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Our customers are constantly growing and so

are we, in size, reach, and prof-

itability. By continuing to

deliver an unparalleled selec-

tion of costume jewelry and

accessories to customers in 

different age groups and parts

of the world, we achieved

record sales and earnings in

Fiscal 2005. Claire’s is

now ready to meet the next

challenge: to build upon

this year’s gains and deliver

new levels of growth.
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2 Fiscal 2005 was a memorable year. Under our joint leadership, Claire’s deliv-

ered another record year. North America turned in sales that exceeded the

prior year. Europe began to deliver the turnaround we have been working

hard to produce. Once again, the Company not only met, but exceeded

the previous year’s record sales and earnings, facts we are extremely proud to report.

Throughout the year, we continued to test the exportation of North American best

practices to our international markets. We began to see significant improvements in our

international comparable store sales during the second half of Fiscal 2005, and those

improvements have continued into the current fiscal year. We believe that this work has

played an important role in laying the groundwork for Claire’s continued delivery of

long-term growth through further International expansion.

As we move further into Fiscal 2006, we remain mindful that we are second generation

leaders of this Company. We hope our work stands as a fitting tribute to our Father’s 

success and we remain committed to furthering that success over the coming years.

Dear Shareholders:
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Once again, Claire’s not only met,

but exceeded the previous year’s

record sales and earnings, facts we

are extremely proud to report.
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T H E  Y E A R  I N  B R I E F
As we noted above, Fiscal 2005 was another record
year for Claire’s. We delivered strong revenue growth,
an increase of 13%, as revenues climbed to approxi-
mately $1.3 billion. This was in addition to the previ-
ous year’s revenue increase of 13%. This growth stems
directly from strong comparable store sales growth of
8%, on top of last year’s increase of 7%. Gross margins
also increased by 40 basis points to 54.1%.

Income from continuing operations rose 27% to
$146.3 million from $115.0 million in Fiscal 2004. On
a diluted per share basis, earnings per share from con-
tinuing operations increased 26% to $1.47 per share
compared with $1.17 in Fiscal 2004. Claire’s cash posi-
tion remains extraordinarily healthy. Specifically, cash
and cash equivalents combined with short-term invest-
ments rose to $326 million from $225 million, and we
have no borrowed debt.

The overall strength of our business enabled us to
raise the Company’s quarterly dividend four times
since the beginning of Fiscal 2005, from $0.06 to $0.10
per share on the common stock, or 67%.

T H E  C H A L L E N G E  A H E A D :
C O M P E T I N G  W I T H  O U R
OW N  S U C C E S S
Fiscal 2005 record results create a challenge, one that
merits special mention. That challenge is to deliver
continuing growth—increases on top of increases, gains
on top of gains, ever-greater shareholder value.

Recognizing how high we ourselves have raised the
bar, Claire’s devoted much effort last year to paving the
way for ongoing growth. We tested and refined care-
fully developed strategies for both Icing by Claire’s and
our International division. Our emphasis on improving
operations took precedence over increasing the num-
ber of stores. It proved well worth the effort, both in
short-term productivity gains and our ability to grow
our business over the long-term.

Having implemented and evaluated various strate-
gies, we furthered our knowledge about the types of
products to offer Icing by Claire’s customers and how
to merchandise them. We now can build on the
Claire’s brand loyalty established earlier in this cus-
tomer’s fashion life and take it in a new, separate, yet
also strong direction.

The new merchandising and operations practices we
employed in our international stores are beginning to
yield increased profitability and serve as a clear path to
future growth. Claire’s is ready to enter new markets
and further globalize the brand. In the coming years,
we will renovate existing international locations to
keep them fresh, and expand into new locations as well
as new countries. Without a doubt, our international
operations are the cornerstone of the Company’s long-
term growth.

3,045 Stores at Fiscal Year End 
(January 29, 2005)

Claireís, NA 1,674
Icing 445 Middle East 57**

Europe 717

South Africa 4**

Japan 148*

*Through a 50:50 joint venture

**Operated under licensing and merchandising agreements
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Bonnie Schaefer
Co-Chairman of the Board
and Co-CEO

Marla Schaefer
Co-Chairman of the Board
and Co-CEO

D E L I V E R I N G  I M P R O V E D
S H A R E H O L D E R  VA L U E
During Fiscal 2006, while we do not expect to repro-
duce the dramatic comparable store sales increases of
Fiscal 2005, we will continue moving the Company
forward. The pace of opening new stores will begin to
quicken. And we are taking steps to upgrade various
systems and ensure that a solid infrastructure is in place
to support our expansion plans.

Another important arm of building shareholder
value is Claire’s large cash reserve. We are committed
to deploying that cash for long-term growth and maxi-
mizing shareholder value. Later this fiscal year, the
Company will complete a new strategic road map for
growth. A key component of that plan will address the
most productive means for utilizing the Company’s
cash. We are examining a myriad of possible options in
our analysis.

While store growth and square footage expansion
are the most obvious means for driving growth, we are
also striving to maximize profitability within existing
stores. We intend to employ a multi-pronged effort
encompassing such activities as more focused purchas-
ing, refinement of our markdown strategies, and con-
ducting more sophisticated productivity analysis. Each
of these programs is dependent upon state-of-the-art
information technology, and we will devote additional
resources to this critical area in Fiscal 2006.

As Claire’s continues to expand abroad, we must also
address distribution center requirements. Our current
distribution centers handle our store operations with-
out difficulty. We nevertheless need to lay the ground-
work now for our planned expansion. Similarly, we are
working to unify our IT systems, so that additional
timely and detailed information is accessible to all who
need it, regardless of the country in which they may be
based.

At the same time, we will be putting the Company’s
other unique assets to work. Included among those are
the strongest brand in our product category, our niche
dominance, as well as an excellent management team
and Board of Directors, the latter of which now
includes a new Board member with a long career in
financial management. Truly, ours is a company of
boundless opportunities, and we plan to seize every
one of them.

A  T R A D I T I O N  O F  G R OW T H ,
C O N T I N U E D
We assumed co-leadership of Claire’s after decades of
growth, masterfully navigated by our father. While the
Company’s leadership has changed, the nature of fash-
ion retailing has not. It still is subject to dizzying cycles
and sudden shifts.

Despite our size—more than 3,000 stores on four
continents, with a workforce of more than 17,500 full
and part-time workers—Claire’s has shown itself to be
agile and able to respond to fluctuations, adapt, and
move on towards new highs in terms of sales and prof-
itability. Together, we want to thank each and every
one of our colleagues for the year’s performance, and
for achievements that position us to deliver meaningful
growth for years to come. At the same time, we also
want to thank you, our loyal shareholders, for your
continued support.
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“The king of accessories in the mall” is how one securities

analyst sees Claire’s, and millions of girls who have grown

up with Claire’s would agree. We continue to be a powerful

leader in our retail niche, offering value-priced fashion-right

costume jewelry and accessories targeted to the style, lifestyle, and ever-growing disposable

income of girls from cradle to teens to young adulthood.

brand strength 
to growon

B U S I N E S S  A N D  B R A N D  S T R E N G T H  
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The flagship concept of the Company’s brand is Claire’s, geared to girls 7–17, although women of every age can
be found in our stores. Surveys continue to show that Claire’s has 98% brand awareness among female teens. In addi-
tion, 75% of the teens surveyed in one study stated they had purchased products at Claire’s during a one-year time
period, and over half of the teen girls interviewed in another study stated that they had shopped at Claire’s in the
previous three months.

The Company is increasingly leveraging this extraordinary brand awareness across other age groups with newer
Claire’s concepts. Icing by Claire’s targets young women 17–27, greatly expanding the reach of the Claire’s brand to
millions of older girls and serving as a vehicle for future North American store growth. We recently began testing a
third store concept, Claire’s Club, which is geared to our youngest customer, age 1–7.

To drive traffic into our stores, the Company continually adds new features to its customer website,
www.claires.com.Visitors to the site can browse through our latest product selection, create wish lists and find stores
near them. Tweens and teens have reacted enthusiastically to the fashion advice, games and email features found on
the website. In addition, the store locator has been expanded to enable site visitors to obtain information about our
international stores.The website now averages an amazing 786,000 users and 144 million hits a month, and use of
the store locator has increased exponentially.
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Both Claire’s and Icing by Claire’s appear frequently and prominently in the media our customers turn to for fash-
ion leadership.Tune in to Entertainment Tonight®. Our products are there, as well as on other television shows such
as The View®. Seventeen®, Teen Vogue®, Teen People® and other publications that are popular with our core customers
feature hundreds of Claire’s and Icing’s products each year—and we receive credits with every photo, along with
frequent mention in style columns.This unique brand awareness and market penetration drove record sales this past
year. On an equally important front, strong corporate management also won media attention, this time in the finan-
cial press. In each of the last two years, Forbes® included Claire’s in its list of Best Managed Companies in America
in the retailing category.
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Average Sales per Store 
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C L A I R E ’ S

One of the brightest stars
in the mall grows brighter

Almost anyone in the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico who is a 7–17 year-old

female or a woman with female children or grandchildren knows Claire’s.

The Company’s flagship store concept has become a fixture in their lives,

and for good reason. Inside its 1,674* North American stores are

thousands of costume jewelry items, hair accessories, handbags, room accessories, makeup

products and more – averaging 11,500 SKUs at any time. Girls know that here they can

find the little touches that make every day more fun, while parents feel good about the

products and their value, with prices averaging about $4 per item.

C
L

A
IR

E
’S

 S
T

O
R

E
S

, 
IN

C
. 

• 
A

N
N

U
A

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 •

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
 E

N
D

E
D

 J
A

N
U

A
R

Y
 2

9
, 

2
0

0
5

1
0

*All store numbers in this report are accurate as of January 29, 2005
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To keep Claire’s sales growing, the Company con-
tinually introduces changes to make stores more
inviting. Improved signage and marketing displays
highlight the most up-to-date fashion statements,
and illustrate possible ways of combining featured
jewelry and accessory items to achieve a popular

look. Color-coded carding guides customers to
move in an easy progression throughout the store,

while simultaneously facilitating prompt store recovery 
by our sales force. Careful inventory management and
product selection, tied to fashion trends and in-demand
licenses, ensure that the products our customers want 
can be found at Claire’s.

Our hard work has led to improved profitability. In
Fiscal 2005, Claire’s North American sales per square
foot rose to $401 from last year’s $376, a 7% increase.
Comparable store sales increases for the year reached
high single-digit levels. Claire’s position as the favorite
place for many tween/teen girls to shop for costume
jewelry and accessories is the strongest in its four-
decade history.

To keep Claire’s sales growing,

the Company continually intro-

duces changes to make stores

more inviting.
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I C I N G  B Y  C L A I R E ’ S

growing
with our customers

What happens to a Claire’s customer when she wants an edgier,

more polished alternative to the Claire’s product mix? Now, she

has her own costume jewelry and accessory destination to turn

to, Icing by Claire’s. Icing by Claire’s picks up where Claire’s

leaves off, targeting young women 17-27 – a market of approximately 20 million young

women in the U.S. alone, who as a group wield enormous buying power.
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While building on Claire’s awareness in its name, Icing by Claire’s takes shoppers to the next level of fashion sophistica-
tion. Products have their own look and feel, a little less innocent, a little bolder. Strong fashion trends that cut across age
lines get a more mature, worldly twist.

Icing by Claire’s distinctive store image and inventory mix are strictly by design. Stores are bigger and merchan-
dise presentations are less dense than at Claire’s. An average Icing by Claire’s store carries 7,500 SKUs versus
11,500 at Claire’s, each selected with the needs and desires of our Icing by Claire’s customer in mind.

This past year, the Company continued its ongoing efforts to improve Icing by Claire’s comparable store sales by
further refining its merchandise selection. We zeroed in on key fashion trends, then showcased customer-dazzling
items with smart placement, eye-catching store signage, and more. The success of our efforts can be seen in the
numbers. Comparable store sales increases for Fiscal 2005 hit the mid-teen level. By year’s end, the 445 Icing by
Claire’s stores in North America delivered impressive performance gains. Sales per square foot leapt from $269 last
year to $322, a 20% increase. As a result, we narrowed the productivity gap between Claire’s and Icing by Claire’s
to $79 per square foot from $107 last year.

Looking ahead, Icing by Claire’s will continue to benefit from our now proven inventory selection and mer-
chandising strategies. While we do not expect the dramatic comparable store sales increases of Fiscal 2005 to be
repeated this year, Icing by Claire’s clearly has found its mark, paving the way for future growth. New stores in
North America are on the drawing board, and testing abroad is being considered.
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I N T E R N A T I O N A L

Going— 
and growing—

global
French. German. Japanese.Arabic. Their languages may differ, but tween and

teen girls everywhere want to own pretty things and have fun dressing up.

In Fiscal 2005, Claire’s advanced its objective of becoming the costume jewelry

and accessory store of choice for girls in places outside of North America.

Our largest concentration of stores abroad is in
Europe, with 717 fully owned-and-operated Claire’s
stores spread throughout the United Kingdom and
Ireland, France, Switzerland,Austria and Germany.
Our initial foray into each country (except Ireland)
began through acquisitions, a series of which took
place between 1996 and 2000. Each of the acquired
chains was rebranded and converted to the Claire’s
concept. In subsequent years, we expanded upon this
purchased store base, as we opened additional stores.
Claire’s stores can also be found on three other conti-
nents. In Japan, 148 stores are owned and operated by
a joint venture in which Claire’s is a 50 percent owner.
The 57 Claire’s stores in the Middle East and four
stores in South Africa are operated under licensing and
merchandising agreements with large, successful retail-
ing professionals.

The exportation of best practices from North
America to Europe has been underway for more than
a year. Inventory selections and merchandising prac-
tices have been modified to more closely mirror those

in North America. Shopping environments are more
inviting, and the content on our European web pages
has been freshened up and expanded. Employees,
trained by experienced Claire’s management, are now
following customer service practices that work so well
in our North American stores.

The improvement in our comparable store sales
results, following a sustained decline in that key metric,
is clear to see. More importantly, we believe further
improvement is possible. Always more productive than
their North American counterparts, our European
stores now are even more so, with sales per square foot
in Europe rising 10% to $869 from $791. New
approaches, tested and proven throughout Fiscal 2005,
will serve us well as we expand our international 
operations. That division, now poised to open addi-
tional stores in countries where we currently operate as
well as in several other countries, will continue to be
the driving force behind the Company’s long-term
growth.
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O P E R A T I O N A L  S T R E N G T H S

elements of growth
Each purchase rung up at a Claire’s or Icing by Claire’s register depends

upon the work of thousands of people (mostly unseen by our customers),

their ability to work together and the effectiveness of major infrastructure

systems to support their efforts.

From a world of styles, celebrities, and pop culture messages, Claire’s forecasting teams spot newly emerging
styles, trends and fads that ignite our customers’ imaginations. Then, our product development and buying teams
turn those looks into sales-winning merchandise.

Strong vendor relationships are valued, as they are crucial to our ability to deliver amazing variety and to keep
new looks flowing into our stores on a weekly basis. Constant feedback from our field staff aids buyers in the
inventory selection process. Constant testing of merchandise is simply a way of life. Marketing and field personnel
collaborate on the creation of eye-popping plan-o-grams that draw customers towards product, and product
towards cash registers.

The most talented merchants in the world would find themselves hard pressed to deliver record breaking per-
formance without strong procedures and systems in place. Well-developed shipping practices and multiple distribu-
tion facilities enable us to routinely replenish our more than 3,000 stores with fashion-fresh merchandise, often on
a daily basis. IT systems, developed and maintained by dedicated teams in several countries, provide merchants and
finance departments with steady streams of data so they can monitor and manage the business. Future initiatives
encompass system upgrades, logistical improvements and European distribution center expansion or new construc-
tion. During Fiscal 2006, particular emphasis will be placed on ensuring that our infrastructure can support the
growth and expansion of our business, both here and abroad.
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Moving into Fiscal 2006, we continue to project
steady growth in our business, simply not at the same
levels as that reported in the past two years. Fiscal 2004
and Fiscal 2005 represented a period during which
several initiatives generated dramatic improvements in 
certain key metrics, including comparable store sales
growth and gross margin expansion. Together, these
resulted in significant gains in diluted earnings per
share. We believe we can deliver record results once
again in Fiscal 2006.

Introduction:
In my report to you last year, I noted that we had produced record results and further 

stated the belief that we had positioned the Company to surpass those results in Fiscal

2005. I am very pleased to report that our objective was accomplished: Fiscal 2005 was

another record year for the Company.

Fiscal 2005 
Financial Report

Ira D. Kaplan
Senior Vice President &

Chief Financial Officer
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Financial Overview—
The Income Statement
In Fiscal 2005, our total sales rose to
$1.28 billion from $1.13 billion in
Fiscal 2004, an increase of 13%.
Comparable store sales increased by
8%. This is on top of a 7% increase
in Fiscal 2004 and a 5% increase in
Fiscal 2003. This three-year trend
demonstrates our ability to drive
comparable store sales by delivering
to our customers product they find
appealing at prices they consider to
be fair.

Throughout the year, we bene-
fited from the continued interest in
jewelry and the profusion of mer-
chandise in great colors. Our Icing
by Claire’s stores continued to
deliver improved sales results that
prove its value as a second store
concept. During the second half of
the year, our international opera-
tions began to generate positive
comparable store sales results, stem-
ming from the success of our ini-
tiative to export North American
best practices.

Our gross margins improved by
40 basis points to 54.1% of sales
during Fiscal 2005. This increase
was primarily attributable to the
weak U.S. dollar versus the British
Pound and the Euro. Furthermore,
positive leverage resulted from the
fact that higher sales associated
with an 8% increase in comparable
store sales exceeded the Fiscal 2005
increase in our occupancy costs.
These benefits were, however, par-
tially offset by higher promotional
activity during Fiscal 2005.

During Fiscal 2006, it is our
intention to keep inventories lean,
so that we maintain maximum
flexibility to react quickly to
changing business conditions and
to capitalize on any “hot” trends
that may emerge.

For the year, Selling, General
and Administrative expense
(“SG&A”) improved by 110 basis
points to 33.7% of sales. The pri-
mary factor contributing to this
improvement was the leveraging of
costs resulting from the 8% increase

in comparable store sales. The ben-
efit was offset in part by higher
wages and bonus accruals and to
expenses attributable to compliance
with Sarbanes Oxley requirements.

Our operating margins, or
income before income taxes, rose
190 basis points to 17.3% of total
sales in Fiscal 2005.

Income from continuing opera-
tions rose 27.1% to $146.3 million
in Fiscal 2005. On a per share
basis, income from continuing
operations reached $1.47 per
diluted share, versus $1.17 per
diluted share in Fiscal 2004, an
increase of 26%.

During the fourth fiscal quarter
we recorded a $3.1 million after-
tax charge related to litigation 
surrounding the disposal of a 
discontinued operation. As a result
of this charge, net income for
Fiscal 2005 was $143.1 million, or
$1.44 per share on a diluted basis.

Revenues Increases in Revenue Comparable Store Sales
Increases 
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Financial Overview—
The Balance Sheet
Our balance sheet was further
strengthened during Fiscal 2005, as
the cash generated by our business
continued to exceed our immediate
need for those funds. The combined
sum of cash and cash equivalents plus
short-term investments rose to
$325.6 million at the end of Fiscal
2005 from $224.6 million at the end
of Fiscal 2004, an increase of $101
million, or 45%.

We continue to maintain a 
balance sheet free of borrowed
debt. Dividend payments in Fiscal
2005 totaled $29 million versus
$13 million in Fiscal 2004.

Capital expenditures for Fiscal
2005 reached $64 million, consist-
ing primarily of costs associated
with store openings and the
remodeling of existing stores. The
allocation of capital expenditures
between North America and our
International division was $47 mil-
lion and $17 million, respectively.

Total assets increased by 20% to 
$966 million from $806 million 
at the end of Fiscal 2004. Stock-
holder’s equity rose by 19% to
$756 million at the end of Fiscal
2005 compared to $632 million at
the end of the prior fiscal year.

Gross Margins Income From 
Continuing Operations 

Pre-Tax Return on Sales
From Continuing Operations 
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North American Division
Overall, our North American 
performance for Fiscal 2005 was
quite strong. Comparable store 
sales growth reached low double
digits for the year. The continuing
strength of jewelry sales was the
major contributing factor. As a 
percentage of sales, jewelry reached
63% in Fiscal 2005, compared to
60% in Fiscal 2004.

The primary reason for the
increase in comparable store sales
was an increase in the number of
average transactions per store.

In North America, our stores
registered significant productivity
gains within both store concepts.
Average sales per store for Fiscal
2005 reached $435,000 at Claire’s
and $386,000 at Icing by Claire’s.
Last year, those numbers were
$396,000 and $324,000, respec-
tively. On a per square foot basis,
sales at Claire’s rose to $401 for
Fiscal 2005 from $376 in Fiscal
2004. At Icing by Claire’s, sales per
square foot in Fiscal 2005 reached
$322, up from $269 last year. On a
combined basis for North America,
sales per square foot rose to $382
in Fiscal 2005 from $348 in Fiscal
2004.

Growth in North America is
expected to be delivered through
continued productivity gains in our
existing stores coupled with a
modest expansion in store square
footage. Inventories are being
managed to keep turn at optimal
levels and facilitate the sale of a
greater percentage of items at full
price. Continuous refinement of
our testing program and our 
procedures for discerning trends,
developing product and select-
ing differentiated merchan-
dise appropriate for the two
store concepts should also
continue to generate growth in
various sales metrics.At the
same time, expense contain-
ment remains a key focus. We
believe all of these initiatives,
when combined, will enable us
to deliver further gains in our
North American operation dur-
ing Fiscal 2006.

Return on Sales Diluted EPS from 
Continuing Operations 
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International Division
As a percentage of total sales, the contribution from our International 
division during Fiscal 2005 increased slightly over last year, to 29% compared
to 28% in Fiscal 2004. In terms of actual sales, the dollar amount rose to $373
million compared to $313 million in the prior fiscal year. Income before
income taxes on this segment also improved, rising 220 basis points to 13.7%
of our international sales in Fiscal 2005. This is on top of a 300 basis point
improvement in Fiscal 2004, evidencing the progress we are making in turn-
ing around our European stores.

Store economics in Europe continue to vary significantly from our
North American counterparts. Dramatically smaller stores translate into
much higher sales per square foot. An average European store measures
604 square feet compared to 1,110 in North America, while sales per
square foot are more than double. For Fiscal 2005, that number reached
$869 per square foot, versus the North American rate of $382. This
remains one of the key factors in the success of our European stores.

For the year, our international comparable store sales increases reached
mid single digits. Fiscal 2005 was a year of dramatic improvements. In the
first fiscal quarter, comparable store sales were negative. In the second
quarter, they returned to positive territory, slightly ahead of the schedule
predicted in this report last year. The improvement continued to build
throughout the balance of the year. We have repeatedly stated that there is
more work to be done in Europe, but we are certain that we are on the
right track. Our performance enhancing efforts will continue throughout
Fiscal 2006 and our objective is for comparable store sales to remain in
positive territory throughout the year.

Our store opening plan for Europe is more aggressive than last year.
While the exact numbers always differ slightly from projections made
months in advance, we currently expect to open approximately 60 stores
in the European countries where we now operate. In addition, we are
striving to open 35 to 55 stores in two to three new European markets.
On top of this is a greatly expanded remodeling program, which calls for
40 to 60 of our European stores to be remodeled. With our earliest
European acquisition approaching a ten-year anniversary, it is time to
ensure that we adopt a systematic remodeling program to keep our stores
in Europe looking fresh and appealing.
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PART I. 

Item 1.  Business 

General 

We are a leading specialty retailer of value-priced fashion accessories for pre-teens and teenagers as well 
as young adults.  We are organized based on our geographic markets, which include our North American 
operations and our International operations.  As of January 29, 2005 we operated a total of 2,836 stores in 
all 50 states of the United States, Puerto Rico, Canada, the Virgin Islands, the United Kingdom, 
Switzerland, Austria, Germany (the latter three collectively referred to as "S.A.G."), France and Ireland.  
The stores are operated mainly under the trade names “Claire’s Boutiques”, “Claire’s Accessories”, 
“Icing by Claire’s”, “Afterthoughts” and “The Icing”.  We are in the process of transitioning our 
“Afterthoughts” stores to “Icing by Claire’s” stores to capitalize on the Claire’s brand name.  We also 
operate 148 stores in Japan through a 50:50 joint venture with AEON Co. Ltd. (“Claire’s Nippon”).  We 
account for the results of operations of Claire’s Nippon under the equity method whose results are 
included within “Interest and other income” in our Statement of Operations within our North American 
division.  In addition, we license 57 stores in the Middle East under a licensing and merchandising 
agreement with Al Shaya Co. Ltd. and 4 stores in South Africa under similar agreements with the House 
of Busby Limited.  We account for the goods we sell under the merchandising agreements within “Gross 
profit” in our North American division and the license fees we charge within “Interest and other income” 
within our International division in our Statement of Operations. 

We incorporated in 1961 as a Delaware corporation.  In June 2000, we completed our reincorporation 
from the state of Delaware to the State of Florida through a merger transaction with one of our wholly-
owned subsidiaries.  In May 2002, we disposed of our apparel segment. 

Our executive offices are located at 3 S.W. 129th Avenue, Pembroke Pines, Florida  33027, our telephone 
number is (954) 433-3900 and our internet address is www.claires.com.  Through our website, we make 
available, as soon as reasonably practicable after such information has been filed or furnished to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports.  In addition, we have made our Corporate 
Governance Guidelines, the charters of our Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committees and our Code of Ethics available through our website.  We will disclose any 
amendments to our Code of Ethics or waivers of any provision thereof on our website within four 
business days following the date of the amendment or waiver, and that information will remain available 
for at least a twelve-month period.  Printed copies of these documents are also available to our 
shareholders upon written request to Investor Relations, Claire’s Stores, Inc., 350 Fifth Avenue, Suite 
900, New York, NY  10118.  The reference to our website does not constitute incorporation by reference 
of the information contained on our website, and the information contained on the website is not part of 
this Form 10-K. 

Business Description 

We have two store concepts: Claire’s Accessories, which caters to fashion-conscious girls and teens in the 
7 to 17 age range, and Icing by Claire’s, which caters to fashion-conscious teens and young women in the 
17 to 27 age range.  Our merchandise typically ranges in price between $2 and $20, with the average 
product sold at approximately $4.  Our stores share a similar format and our different store concepts and 
trade-names allow us to have multiple store locations in a single mall.  Although we face competition 
from a number of small specialty store chains and others selling fashion accessories, we believe that our 
stores comprise one of the largest chains of specialty retail stores in the world devoted to the sale of 
value-priced fashion accessories for pre-teen, teenage and young adult females. 

Our sales are divided into two principal product categories: 

• Jewelry—Costume jewelry, earrings and ear piercing services; and 

• Accessories—Other fashion accessories, hair ornaments, tote bags and novelty items. 
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The following table compares our sales of each product category for the last three fiscal years (dollars in 
thousands): 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29, 2005 Jan. 31, 2004 Feb. 1, 2003 
Jewelry $   717,406 56.1% $603,564 53.3% $481,686 48.1%
Accessories 562,001 43.9% 529,270 46.7% 519,851 51.9%
 $1,279,407 100.0% $1,132,834 100.0% $1,001,537 100.0%
 
We refer to the fiscal years referenced above as Fiscal 2005, Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2003, respectively. 

We are primarily organized based on geographic markets for which we operate.  Under this organizational 
structure, we have two reportable segments: North America and International.  A summary of North 
American and International operations is presented below (dollars in thousands): 

 Fiscal Year Ended 

 
Jan. 29, 

2005 
Jan. 31, 

2004 
Feb. 1, 
2003 

REVENUES    
North America $   906,071 $   820,332 $   740,838
International 373,336 312,502 260,699

    
Total revenues $1,279,407 $1,132,834 $1,001,537

    
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

BEFORE INCOME TAXES    
North America $   170,323 $   138,387 $     97,849
International 51,313 36,035 22,274

    
Total income from continuing operations before 

income taxes $   221,636 $   174,422 $   120,123
    
LONG-LIVED ASSETS    

North America $   325,543 $   311,069 $   308,437
International 147,260 134,832 108,084

    
Total long-lived assets $   472,803 $   445,901 $   416,521

    

Additional financial information for our two segments is set forth in Note 11 of our consolidated financial 
statements included in this Annual Report. 

Strategy 

Through our Claire’s Accessories and Icing by Claire’s store concepts, our mission is to be the most 
profitable specialty retailer selling accessories and costume jewelry to fashion-aware teens, tweens and 
young adults.  We believe our customers want to stay current with or ahead of fashion trends and 
continually seek newness in their accessory wear.  The key elements of our strategy are as follows: 

Actively Manage Merchandise Trends and Display of Merchandise.  We devote considerable effort to 
identifying emerging fashion trends.  Through constant product testing and rapid placement of successful 
test items in our stores, we are able to respond to emerging fashion trends.  We also devote considerable 
effort to how our merchandise is displayed in our stores, which we believe commands our customers’ 
attention, supports our image and promotes a consistent shopping environment for our customers.  Our 
merchandising and distribution systems enhance our ability to make quick responses to new fashion 
trends.  We typically deliver merchandise to our stores three to five times a week. 
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Provide Attentive Customer Service.  We are committed to offering courteous and professional customer 
service.  We strive to give our customers the same level of respect that is generally given to adult 
customers at other retail stores, and to provide friendly and informed customer service for parents.  
Additionally, our stores provide a friendly and social atmosphere for our customers. 

Store Growth Strategy.  We opened our first store in Europe in 1996 and, as of January 29, 2005, operated 
717 stores in Europe.  Our European stores are typically smaller than our North American stores, which 
results in higher sales per square foot than our North American stores.  We intend to continue our store 
growth through the opening of new stores in our international markets.  Any future store openings in Asia 
are currently subject to our 50:50 joint venture arrangement under Claire's Nippon. 

Licensing Arrangements.  We entered into our first licensing arrangement with a Kuwait company in 
Fiscal 2002 and a similar arrangement with a South African company in Fiscal 2005.  We intend to 
continue to seek suitable licensees in order to open stores in certain international markets where we desire 
a limited financial investment. 

Maintain Strong Supplier Relationships.  We view our supplier relationships as important to our success, 
and promote personal interaction with our suppliers.  We believe many of our suppliers view our stores as 
important distribution channels. 

Capitalize on Our Brand Name.  We believe that the Claire’s brand name is one of our most important 
assets.  We intend to develop our brand through, among other things, in-store marketing and licensing 
arrangements. 

Stores 

Our stores in North America are located primarily in enclosed shopping malls.  Our stores in North 
America operating as “Claire’s Boutiques” and “Claire’s Accessories” average approximately 1,100 
square feet while those stores operating as “Icing by Claire’s”, “The Icing” and “Afterthoughts” average 
approximately 1,200 square feet. Our stores in the United Kingdom, S.A.G., France, Ireland and Japan 
average approximately 600 square feet and are located primarily in enclosed shopping malls and central 
business districts. Each store uses our proprietary displays, which permit the presentation of a wide 
variety of items in a relatively small space. 

Our stores are distinctively designed for customer identification, ease of shopping and display of a wide 
selection of merchandise.  Store hours are dictated by the mall operators and the stores are typically open 
from 10:00 A.M. to 9:00 P.M., Monday through Saturday, and, where permitted by law, from Noon to 
5:00 P.M. on Sunday. 

Approximately 73% of sales are made in cash, with the balance made by credit cards.  We permit, with 
restrictions on certain items, returns for exchange or refund. 

Purchasing and Distribution 

We purchased our merchandise from approximately 755 domestic and international suppliers in Fiscal 
2005.  Approximately 82% of our merchandise in Fiscal 2005 was purchased from outside the United 
States, including approximately 50% purchased from China.  We are not dependent on an individual 
supplier for merchandise purchased.  All merchandise is shipped from suppliers to our distribution facility 
in Hoffman Estates, Illinois, a suburb of Chicago (which services the North American stores), the 
distribution facility in Birmingham, England (which services the stores in the United Kingdom, Ireland 
and France), or the distribution facilities in Zurich, Switzerland and Vienna, Austria (which service the 
stores in S.A.G.).  After inspection, merchandise is shipped via common carrier to the individual stores.  
Stores typically receive three to five shipments a week, which provide our stores with a steady flow of 
new merchandise. 
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Our business fluctuates according to changes in customer preferences, which are dictated in part by 
fashion and season.  In addition, the cyclical nature of the retail business requires us to carry a significant 
amount of inventory, especially prior to peak selling seasons.  As a result, we typically purchase 
merchandise from our suppliers well in advance of the applicable selling season, and sometimes before 
fashion trends are identified or evidenced by customer purchases. 

We determine the allocation of merchandise to our stores based on an analysis of various factors, 
including size, location, demographics, sales and inventory history.  Merchandise typically is sold at its 
original marked price, with the length of time varying by item.  We review our inventory levels to identify 
slow-moving merchandise, and use markdowns to clear this merchandise.  Markdowns may be used if 
inventory exceeds client demand for reasons of fashion, design, seasonal adaptation or changes in client 
preference, or if it is otherwise determined that the inventory will not sell at its currently marked price. 

Store Management 

Except as stated below, our Executive Vice President of Store Operations is responsible for managing our 
North American stores and reports to our Chief Operating Officer for North America, who in turn, reports 
to our Co-Chief Executive Officers. Our stores are organized and controlled on a district level.  We 
currently employ 218 District Managers in North America, each of whom oversees and manages 
approximately 10 stores in his or her respective geographic area and reports to one of 22 Regional 
Managers.  Each Regional Manager in North America reports to one of 6 Territorial Vice Presidents, who 
reports to the Executive Vice President of Store Operations. Each store is staffed by a Manager, an 
Assistant Manager and one or more part-time employees.  The reporting structure for our stores in the 
International group is similar to the reporting structure in North America.  The Presidents of Claire’s UK 
and S.A.G. report to our Co-Chief Executive Officer responsible for our International segment.  The 
President of S.A.G is also responsible for France.  In the International group, there are a total of 7 
Regional Managers and 75 District Managers. 

Store Openings, Closings and Future Growth 

For Fiscal 2005, we opened 145 stores and closed 96 stores, for a total increase of 49 stores, net.  Net 
stores refers to stores opened, net of closings, if any.  In our International group, we decreased our 
operations by 17 stores, net, in the United Kingdom, resulting in a total of 442 stores, expanded our 
operations by 3 stores, net, in S.A.G., resulting in a total of 99 stores and increased our operations by 31 
stores, net, in France, resulting in a total of 176 stores.  In North America, we increased our operations by 
7 stores, net to 2,119 stores. We believe our store growth will occur in our international markets, where 
we plan on opening 50 stores, net, in France and opening 1 store, net, in S.A.G. during the fiscal year 
ending January 28, 2006, which is referred to as Fiscal 2006. We plan on opening approximately 20 
stores, net, in North America in Fiscal 2006 and closing 1 store, net, in the United Kingdom.  In Fiscal 
2005, Claire’s Nippon increased operations in Japan by 25 stores, net, to 148 stores.  There are 25 store 
openings planned in Japan in Fiscal 2006. 

We closed 363 stores in the last three fiscal years, primarily due to certain locations not meeting our 
established profit benchmarks, the unwillingness of landlords to renew leases on terms acceptable to us, 
and the elimination of stores in connection with our acquisition of Afterthoughts.  Most of these stores 
were closed at or near lease expiration.  We have not experienced any substantial difficulty in renewing 
desired store leases and have no reason to expect any such difficulty in the future. For each of the last 
three fiscal years, no individual store accounted for more than one percent of total sales. 

We plan to continue opening stores when suitable locations are found and satisfactory lease negotiations 
are concluded.  Our initial investment in new stores opened during Fiscal 2005, which includes leasehold 
improvements and fixtures, averaged approximately $146,000 per store.  In addition, certain store 
locations in our International operations require the purchase of intangible assets.  In these 38 cases, we 
invested approximately $188,000 per store in intangible assets during Fiscal 2005. 
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Our continued growth depends on our ability to open and operate stores on a profitable basis.  Our ability 
to expand successfully will be dependent upon a number of factors, including sufficient demand for our 
merchandise in existing and new markets, our ability to locate and obtain favorable store sites and 
negotiate acceptable lease terms, obtain adequate merchandise supply and hire and train qualified 
management and other employees. 

Trademarks and Service Marks 

We are the owner in the United States of various marks, including “Claire’s,” “Claire’s Accessories,” 
“Afterthoughts”, “Icing by Claire’s” and “The Icing.”  We have also registered these marks outside of the 
United States.  We believe our rights in our marks are important to our business and intend to maintain 
our marks and the related registrations. 

Competition 
 
The specialty retail business is highly competitive.  We compete with department stores and chains on a 
national and international level.  We also compete on a regional or local level with specialty and discount 
store chains and independent retail stores.  Our competition also includes internet and catalog businesses.  
We cannot estimate the number of our competitors because of the large number of companies in the retail 
industry that fall into one of these categories.  We believe the main competitive factors in our business are 
fashion, price, merchandise, store location and customer service. 
 
Seasonality 

Sales of each category of merchandise vary from period to period depending on current fashion trends.  
We experience traditional retail patterns of peak sales during the Christmas, Easter and back-to-school 
periods.  Sales, as a percentage of total sales in each of the four quarters of the fiscal year ended January 
29, 2005 were 22%, 24%, 23% and 31%, respectively. 

Employees 

On January 29, 2005, we had approximately 18,000 employees, 58% of whom were part-time.  Part-time 
employees typically work up to 20 hours per week.  We do not have collective bargaining agreements 
with any labor unions and we consider employee relations to be good. 

Item 2.  Properties 

Our stores are located in all 50 states of the United States, Puerto Rico, Canada, the Virgin Islands, the 
United Kingdom, Switzerland, Austria, Germany, France and Ireland.  We lease all of our 2,836 store 
locations, generally for terms ranging from five to 25 years.  Under the terms of the leases, we pay a fixed 
minimum rent and/or rentals based on gross sales in excess of specified amounts. We also pay certain 
other expenses (e.g., common area maintenance charges and real estate taxes) under the leases.  The 
internal layout and fixtures of each store are designed by management and constructed under contracts 
with third parties. 

Most of our stores in North America and the International division are located in enclosed shopping 
malls, while other stores are located within central business districts, “open-air” outlet malls or “strip 
centers”.  Our criteria for new stores includes geographic location, demographic aspects of communities 
surrounding the store site, quality of anchor tenants, advantageous location within a mall, appropriate 
space availability and rental rates. We believe that sufficient desirable locations are available to 
accommodate our expansion plans.  We refurbish our existing stores on a regular basis. 

We own central buying and store operations offices and the North American distribution center located in 
Hoffman Estates, Illinois which is on approximately 24.8 acres of land.  The property has buildings with 
approximately 538,000 total square feet of space, of which 373,000 square feet is devoted to receiving 
and distribution and 165,000 square feet is devoted to office space. 
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Our subsidiary, Claire’s Accessories UK Ltd., or “UK”, leases distribution and office space in 
Birmingham, England. The facility consists of 25,000 square feet of office space and 60,000 square feet 
of distribution space.  The lease expires in December 2024 and UK has the right to assign or sublet this 
lease at any time during the term of the lease. 

Our stores operated by our subsidiaries, Claire’s Switzerland, Claire's Austria and Claire’s Germany, are 
serviced by distribution centers and offices in Zurich, Switzerland and Vienna, Austria.  The facility 
maintained in Zurich, Switzerland consists of 13,700 square feet devoted to distribution and 8,500 square 
feet devoted to offices.  The lease for this location expires on December 31, 2006.  In Vienna, Austria, the 
facility consists of 18,100 square feet devoted to distribution and 3,400 square feet devoted to offices.  
The lease on this facility does not have an expiration date but can be terminated by Claire's Austria with 
six months notice to the landlord. 

We lease approximately 35,000 square feet in Pembroke Pines, Florida, where we maintain our executive, 
accounting and finance offices.  See Note 9 entitled “Related Party Transactions” to our consolidated 
financial statements included in this Annual Report. 

We also own 10,000 square feet of warehouse space in Miami, Florida.  The property is being utilized as 
a storage facility.  We also lease executive office space in New York City and are the owners of a 
cooperative apartment in New York City. 

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings 

We are, from time to time, involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business, 
including litigation instituted by persons injured upon premises under our control, litigation regarding the 
merchandise that we sell, including product and safety concerns regarding metal content in our 
merchandise, litigation with respect to various employment matters, including litigation with present and 
former employees, and litigation to protect our trademark rights.  Although litigation is routine and 
incidental to the conduct of our business, like any business of our size and employing a significant 
number of employees, such litigation can result in large monetary awards when judges, juries or other 
finders of facts do not agree with management's evaluation of possible liability or outcome of litigation.  
Accordingly, the consequences of these matters cannot be finally determined by management.  However, 
in the opinion of management, we believe that current pending litigation will not have a material adverse 
effect on our financial position, earnings or cash flows. 

In May 2002, we sold 100% of the Common stock of Lux Corporation d/b/a Mr. Rags, and discontinued 
the operations of our apparel segment.  In January 2003, Lux Corporation filed for bankruptcy, and on 
November 7, 2003, the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of Lux Corporation filed a complaint 
against us in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California.  This litigation has 
been settled for $5.0 million ($3.1 million net of income taxes).  The settlement was approved by the 
bankruptcy court, without objection by any party in interest, on April 5, 2005.  We expect that a final 
order will be entered later this month.  Provided that no appeal is filed or rehearing sought within 10 days 
after entry, the order will become final 10 days after its entry.  The settlement represents return of 
proceeds we received as a result of the sale, and has been recorded net of tax, in the fiscal year 2005 
financial statements as “Net loss from discontinued operations.” 

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2005. 
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PART II 

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer 
Purchases of Equity Securities 

We have two classes of common stock, par value $.05 per share, outstanding:  common stock having one 
vote per share and Class A common stock having ten votes per share.  The common stock is traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange, Inc. under the symbol CLE.  The Class A common stock has only limited 
transferability and is not traded on any stock exchange or in any organized market.  However, the Class A 
common stock is convertible on a share-for-share basis into common stock and may be sold, as common 
stock, in open market transactions.  In December 2003, our Board of Directors declared a 2-for-1 stock 
split of the our Common stock and Class A common stock in the form of a 100% stock dividend.  As a 
result, all share and per share amounts have been restated to reflect the stock split.  The following table 
sets forth, for each quarterly period within the last two fiscal years, the high and low closing prices of the 
common stock on the NYSE Composite Tape.  At March 15, 2005, the number of record holders of 
shares of common stock and Class A common stock was 1,261 and 401, respectively. 
 

 Closing Price of Common Stock 
Year Ended January 29, 2005 High Low 
First Quarter $21.91 $18.61 
Second Quarter 23.52 18.75 
Third Quarter 26.25 21.87 
Fourth Quarter 27.05 19.78 
   
Year Ended January 31, 2004   
First Quarter $13.15 $10.56 
Second Quarter 15.67 12.68 
Third Quarter 20.25 13.77 
Fourth Quarter 23.20 18.06 

 
We have paid regular quarterly dividends to our shareholders on the common stock since 1985 and on the 
Class A common stock since July 1994.  Our Board of Directors, in their sole discretion, determines the 
distribution rate based on our results of operations, economic conditions, tax considerations and other 
factors.  In Fiscal 2004, we paid quarterly cash dividends on our common stock (one in the amount of 
$.06 per share, two in the amount of $.03 per share and one in the amount of $.02 per share) and Class A 
common stock (one in the amount of $.03 per share, two in the amount of $.015 per share and one in the 
amount of $.01 per share), or a total of $.14 per share on our common stock and $.07 per share on our 
Class A common stock.  In Fiscal 2005, we paid quarterly cash dividends on our common stock (one in 
the amount of $.09 per share, one in the amount of $.08 per share, one in the amount of $.07 per share and 
one in the amount of $.06 per share) and Class A common stock (one in the amount of $.045 per share, 
one in the amount of $.04 per share, one in the amount of $.035 per share and one in the amount of $.03 
per share), or a total of $.30 per share on our common stock and $.15 per share on our Class A common 
stock.  As of March 15, 2005 our current dividend distribution amount per share is $.10 and $.05 each 
quarter for common stock and Class A common stock, respectively.  We expect to continue paying 
dividends.  However, there is no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so because the 
declaration and payment of dividends are subject to various factors, including contingencies such as our 
earnings, liquidity and financial condition and other factors our Board of Directors consider relevant as 
well as certain limitations on our ability to make dividend distributions under our credit facility.  See 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation - Liquidity and 
Capital Resources.” 
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The following table provides information as of January 29, 2005 with respect to compensation plans 
(including individual compensation arrangements) under which our Common stock and Class A common 
stock are authorized for issuance. 

 Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Plan Category 

Number of 
securities to be 

issued upon exercise 
of outstanding 

options, warrants 
and rights 

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 

equity compensation plans 
(excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 
 (a) (b) (c) 

Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders ...............  1,511,813  $15.40  7,295,792 

Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders ...............  -  -  - 

Total  1,511,813  $15.40  7,295,792 
 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

The balance sheet and income statement data set forth below is derived from our consolidated financial 
statements and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements included in this 
Annual Report, and in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operation.”  The consolidated Balance Sheet data as of February 1, 2003, February 2, 
2002, and February 3, 2001 and the consolidated Statements of Operations data for each of the fiscal 
years ended February 2, 2002 and February 3, 2001 are derived from our consolidated financial 
statements, which are not included herein.  These amounts include certain reclassifications of prior year 
amounts in order to conform to current year presentation. 
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 Fiscal Year Ended 

 
Jan. 29, 

2005 
Jan. 31, 

2004 
Feb. 1, 
2003 

Feb. 2, 
2002(2) 

Feb. 3, 
2001(1)(2) 

 (In thousands except per share amounts) 
Statement of Operations Data:      

Net Sales $1,279,407 $1,132,834 $1,001,537 $918,737 $946,715
Income from continuing operations 146,259 115,038 77,979 41,126 67,772
Net Income 143,124 115,038 77,744 19,583 64,975

   
Income Per Share:   

Basic:   
From continuing operations $         1.48 $         1.17 $           .80 $        .42 $        .68
Net income 1.45 1.17 .80 .20 .65

Diluted:   
From continuing operations $         1.47 $         1.17 $           .80 $        .42 $        .68
Net income 1.44 1.17 .80 .20 .65

   
Cash Dividends Per Share:   

Common stock $           .30 $           .14 $           .08 $        .08 $        .08
Class A common stock .15 .07 .04 .04 .04

   
Balance Sheet Data:   

Current assets $   493,326 $   360,023 $   321,608 $214,424 $265,964
Current liabilities 166,938 143,326 141,010 82,536 94,452
Working capital 326,388 216,697 180,598 131,888 171,512
Total assets 966,129 805,924 738,129 611,575 660,261
Long-term debt - - 70,000 110,104 151,374
Stockholders’ equity 755,687 632,450 501,254 404,188 399,700

 
(1) Consists of 53 weeks. 

(2) Restated to reflect the plan to discontinue the operations of Mr. Rags (Lux Corp.) in January 2002. 

Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is designed to provide the reader of the financial statements with 
a narrative on our results of operations, financial position and liquidity, risk management activities, 
significant accounting policies and critical estimates, and the future impact of accounting standards that 
have been issued but are not yet effective.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis is presented in five 
sections: Overview, Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, Results of Consolidated Operations, 
Segment Operations and Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition.  It is useful to read 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and 
related notes thereto contained elsewhere in this document. 

Our fiscal years end on the Saturday closest to January 31.  As a result, our Fiscal 2005, Fiscal 2004 and 
Fiscal 2003 results consisted of 52 weeks.  All references to earnings per share relate to diluted earnings 
per share from continuing operations. 

We include a store in the calculation of comparable store sales once it has been in operation sixty weeks 
after its initial opening.  If a store is closed during a fiscal period, the store’s sales will be included in the 
computation of comparable store sales for that fiscal month, quarter and year to date period only for the 
days in which it was operating as compared to those same days in the comparable period.  Relocated, 
remodeled and expanded square footage stores are classified the same as the original store and are not 
considered new stores upon relocation, remodeling or completion of their expansion. 
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Overview 

We are a leading specialty retailer of value-priced fashion accessories and jewelry for pre-teens and 
teenagers as well as young adults.  We are organized based on our geographic markets, which include our 
North American operations and our International operations.  As of January 29, 2005, we operated a total 
of 2,836 stores in all 50 states of the United States, Puerto Rico, Canada, the Virgin Islands, the United 
Kingdom, Switzerland, Austria, Germany (the latter three collectively referred to as "S.A.G."), France 
and Ireland. The stores are operated mainly under the trade names “Claire’s Boutiques”, “Claire’s 
Accessories”, “Icing by Claire’s”, “Afterthoughts” and “The Icing”.  We are in the process of 
transitioning our “Afterthoughts” stores to “Icing by Claire’s” stores to capitalize on the Claire’s brand 
name.  We also operate 148 stores in Japan through a 50:50 joint venture with AEON Co. Ltd. (“Claire’s 
Nippon”).  We account for the results of operations of Claire’s Nippon under the equity method and 
include these results within “Interest and other income” in our Statement of Operations within our North 
American division.  In addition, we license 57 stores in the Middle East under a licensing and 
merchandising agreement with Al Shaya Co. Ltd. and 4 stores in South Africa under similar agreements 
with the House of Busby Limited.  We account for the goods we sell under the merchandising agreements 
within “Gross profit” in our North American division and the license fees we charge within “Interest and 
other income” within our International division in our Statement of Operations. 

We have two store concepts: Claire’s Accessories, which caters to fashion-conscious girls and teens in the 
7 to 17 age range, and Icing by Claire’s, which caters to fashion-conscious teens and young women in the 
17 to 27 age range.  Our merchandise typically ranges in price between $2 and $20, with the average 
product sold at approximately $4.  Our stores share a similar format and our different store concepts and 
trade-names allow us to have multiple store locations in a single mall.  Although we face competition 
from a number of small specialty store chains and others selling fashion accessories, we believe that our 
stores comprise one of the largest chains of specialty retail stores in the world devoted to the sale of 
value-priced fashion accessories for pre-teen, teenage and young adult females. 

Fundamentally, our business model is to offer the customer a compelling price/value relationship and a 
wide array of products to choose from.  We seek to deliver a high level of profitability and cash flow by: 

• maximizing the effectiveness of our retail product pricing through promotional activity 

• minimizing our product costs through economies of scale as the world’s leading mall-based 
retailer of value-priced accessories and jewelry 

• reinvesting operating cash flows into opening new stores, remodeling existing stores and 
infrastructure in order to create future revenues and build brand name loyalty 

While our financial results have grown steadily and record sales performance was achieved during Fiscal 
2005, the retail environment remains very competitive.  Management’s plan for future growth is 
dependent on: 

• our ability to successfully identify merchandise appealing to our customers 

• displaying our merchandise at convenient, accessible locations staffed with personnel that provide 
courteous and professional customer service 

• sourcing our merchandise to achieve a positive price/value relationship 

• increasing sales at existing store locations 

• expanding our sales, with our focus on our International segment, through additional store 
locations 
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Our ability to achieve these objectives will be dependent on various factors, including those outlined in 
“Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors.” 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires us to estimate the effect of various matters that are 
inherently uncertain as of the date of the financial statements.  Each of these required estimates varies in 
regard to the level of judgment involved and its potential impact on our reported financial results.  
Estimates are deemed critical when a different estimate could have reasonably been used or where 
changes in the estimate are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, and would materially impact 
our financial condition, changes in financial condition, or results of operations. Our significant accounting 
policies are discussed in Note 1 of the Notes to consolidated financial statements; critical estimates 
inherent in these accounting policies are discussed in the following paragraphs. 

Inventory Valuation 

Our inventories in North America and S.A.G. are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost 
determined using the retail method.  Inherent in the retail inventory calculation are certain significant 
management judgments and estimates including, among others, merchandise markups, markdowns and 
shrinkage, which impact the ending inventory valuation at cost as well as resulting gross margins.  The 
methodologies used to value merchandise inventories include the development of the cost to retail ratios, 
the groupings of homogeneous classes of merchandise, development of shrinkage reserves and the 
accounting for retail price changes.  The inventories in our United Kingdom, Irish and French stores are 
accounted for under the lower of cost or market method, with cost determined using the average cost 
method.  Inventory valuation is impacted by the estimation of slow moving goods, shrinkage and 
markdowns. 

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets 

We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that a potential impairment has occurred. A potential impairment has occurred if the projected future 
undiscounted cash flows at the district level are less than the carrying value of the assets.  The estimate of 
cash flows includes management’s assumptions of cash inflows and outflows directly resulting from the 
use of the asset in operations.  When a potential impairment has occurred, an impairment charge is 
recorded if the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.  Fair value is measured based 
on a projected discounted cash flow model using a discount rate we feel is commensurate with the risk 
inherent in our business.  Our impairment analyses contain estimates due to the inherently judgmental 
nature of forecasting long-term estimated cash flows and determining the ultimate useful lives of assets.  
Actual results may differ, which could materially impact our impairment assessment. 

During Fiscal 2003, we recorded impairment charges of $2.7 million relating to fixed assets in our 
International segment due to those assets not being recoverable by estimated discounted cash flows.  We 
recorded no impairment charges during Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2005. 

Goodwill Impairment 

We continually evaluate whether events and changes in circumstances warrant recognition of an 
impairment loss of goodwill.  The conditions that would trigger an impairment assessment of goodwill 
include a significant, sustained negative trend in our operating results or cash flows, a decrease in demand 
for our products, a change in the competitive environment and other industry and economic factors.  We 
measure impairment of goodwill utilizing the discounted cash flow method for each of our reporting 
units.  The estimated discounted cash flows are then compared to our goodwill amounts.  If the balance of 
the goodwill exceeds the estimated discounted cash flows, the excess of the balance is written off. Future 
cash flows may not meet projected amounts, which could result in impairment.  We performed these 
analyses during Fiscal 2004 and 2005 and no impairment was required. 
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Intangible Asset Impairment 

We continually evaluate whether events and changes in circumstances warrant revised estimates of the 
useful lives or recognition of an impairment loss for intangible assets.  Future adverse changes in market 
and legal conditions, or poor operating results of underlying assets could result in losses or an inability to 
recover the carrying value of the intangible asset, thereby possibly requiring an impairment charge in the 
future.  The Company has concluded that certain intangible assets, comprised primarily of lease rights, 
qualify as indefinite-life intangible assets.  Fair market value of the lease rights was determined through 
the use of third-party valuation.  In addition, we make investments through our International subsidiaries 
in intangible assets upon the opening and acquisition of many of our store locations in Europe.  These 
other intangible assets, which are subject to amortization, are amortized over the useful lives of the 
respective leases, not to exceed 25 years.  We evaluate the market value of these assets periodically and 
record the impairment charge when we believe the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable.  We 
recorded impairment charges of approximately $1.0 million in Fiscal 2003 because the market value of 
certain lease rights included in our International segment were determined to be less than their carrying 
values.  We recorded no impairment during Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2005. 

Income Taxes 

We are subject to income taxes in many jurisdictions, including the US, individual states and localities 
and abroad.  We must first determine which revenues and expenses are included for each taxing 
jurisdiction.  This process also involves the estimation of our actual current tax exposure, together with 
the assessment of temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of income or expense items for 
tax and accounting purposes.  We establish deferred tax assets and liabilities as a result of these temporary 
differences. If we adjust our estimates in the future such that we would not expect to realize all or part of 
our net deferred tax assets, we may need to establish, or adjust a valuation allowance against our deferred 
tax assets, which could also materially affect our effective tax rate. We establish tax reserves in our 
consolidated financial statements based on our estimation of current tax exposures.  If we prevail in tax 
matters for which reserves have been established or we are required to settle matters in excess of 
established reserves, our effective tax rate for a particular period could be materially affected. 

Income tax expense also reflects our best estimate and assumptions regarding, among other things, the 
level of future taxable income, interpretation of tax laws of multiple jurisdictions, and tax planning.  
Future changes in tax laws, changes in projected levels of taxable income and tax planning could affect 
the effective tax rate and tax balances recorded by us.  During the year, we base our tax rate on an 
estimate of our expected annual effective tax rate.  These estimates are updated quarterly. 

On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates.  We base our estimates on historical experience and on 
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances at the time, the results 
of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Although management believes that the estimates discussed 
above are reasonable and the related calculations conform to generally accepted accounting principles, 
actual results could differ from these estimates, and such differences could be material. 

Management has discussed the development and selection of these critical accounting policies with the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed our disclosures 
relating to them. 
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Results of  Consolidated Operations 

Overall, our operating results for Fiscal 2005 were a record in terms of sales and profitability.  A 
summary of our consolidated results of operations is as follows (dollars in thousands, except per share 
data): 

 
During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2005, we recorded an after-tax charge of approximately $3.1 million, 
or $.03 per diluted share, relative to a settlement of litigation in connection with our disposition of our 
apparel segment in Fiscal 2003.  This amount has been accounted for as loss from discontinued operation 
within our Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 
 
Net sales in Fiscal 2005 increased by $146.6 million, or 13%, from Fiscal 2004, which in turn was $131.3 
million, or 13% higher than Fiscal 2003.  The increase in net sales was primarily attributable to 
comparable store sales increases of 8.0% and 7.0%, or approximately $92.2 million and $66.6 million 
during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004, respectively, the effects of the weak US Dollar when translating our 
foreign operations at higher exchange rates of approximately $34.4 million and $29.8 million, 
respectively, and new stores opened in our International division which produced higher average store 
sales than the stores we closed in our North American division. 

The positive comparable sales experienced in our North American division during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 
2004 were across most merchandise categories, most notably in the jewelry related areas and were 
primarily driven by an increase in the average number of transactions per store.  We believe we 
experienced this trend through successfully meeting our customers' demand for current fashion trends in 
jewelry and superior customer service in our stores.  We have actively employed strategic initiatives in 
our International division to address the negative comparable store sales trend noted in the second half of 
Fiscal 2004.  These initiatives included sharing best practices employed in our North American division 
for merchandise selection, store operations and attentive customer service.  We believe our efforts 
contributed to our International division’s success in Fiscal 2005, providing comparable store sales of 4%. 

The following table compares our sales of each product category for the last three fiscal years: 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29, 2005 Jan. 31, 2004 Feb. 1, 2003 
Jewelry 56.1% 53.3% 48.1% 
Accessories 43.9% 46.7% 51.9% 
 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

 Fiscal Year 
 2005 2004 2003 
    
Net sales  $1,279,407 $1,132,834  $1,001,537 
Comparable store sales 8.0% 7.0% 5.0% 
Gross profit percentage 54.1% 53.7% 51.4% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  

as a percentage of net sales 33.7% 34.8% 35.5% 
Income from continuing operations  $   146,259 $   115,038  $    77,979 
Net income  $   143,124 $   115,038  $    77,744 
Income from continuing operations per diluted share  $         1.47 $         1.17  $          .80 
Number of stores at the end of the period(1)  2,836  2,812  2,803 
    
(1)Number of stores excludes Claire’s Nippon    
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In calculating gross profit and gross profit percentages, we exclude the costs related to our distribution 
center. These costs are included instead in Selling, general and administrative expenses.  Other retail 
companies may include these costs in cost of sales, so our gross profit percentages may not be 
comparable to those retailers. 

Gross profit percentages increased by 40 basis points and 230 basis points during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 
2004, respectively.  The primary source of this improvement during Fiscal 2005 was the ability of our 
International division to source a significant portion of goods at a lower cost due to those goods being 
purchased from our vendors in US Dollars.  The lower cost was available due to the weakness in the US 
Dollar as compared to the British Pound and the Euro and approximated $4.4 million.  Most of the goods 
sourced for sale in our International division are purchased in US Dollars.  In addition, comparable sales 
increased at a rate faster than the increase in our occupancy related costs, creating positive leverage on 
those costs; however, these costs were partially offset by higher markdowns recorded at the end of Fiscal 
2005 in connection with the Christmas selling season not meeting expectations.  Fiscal 2005 also includes 
$1.5 million of rent expense recorded to account for the cumulative impact of not recording rent expense 
during the construction period prior to lease commencement.  The increased gross profit percentages 
during Fiscal 2004 were primarily the result of improved merchandise margins relating to the shift in 
business from accessories to jewelry, as jewelry carries a higher initial markup and profit margin than that 
of accessories. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $36.7 million and $39.1 million in Fiscal 2005 and 
Fiscal 2004, respectively.  These increases are primarily attributable to the increases in compensation paid 
to store personnel due to average wage increases and additional hours worked in our North American 
stores and the effects of the weak US Dollar when translating our foreign operations at higher exchange 
rates.  Additional hours worked in the North American stores were necessary to achieve the positive 
comparable store sales experienced during these periods.  In addition, during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004, 
increased store, field and corporate bonuses were earned in North America due to the positive comparable 
store sales and profit results during the period.  We also recorded a charge of $8.7 million in the fourth 
quarter of Fiscal 2004 related to the retirement compensation package of our founder and former 
Chairman of the Board.  As a percentage of Net sales, however, Selling, general and administrative 
expenses improved by 110 basis points and 70 basis points during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004, 
respectively.  This improvement was primarily due to comparable store increases greater than the overall 
increases in the underlying expenses. 

Our effective income tax rate for Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004 was 34.0%.  During Fiscal 2005, we 
recorded net benefits to the provision for income taxes totaling approximately $.4 million attributable to 
concluded state tax examinations that were settled more favorably than anticipated.  Included in income 
taxes for Fiscal 2004 was a tax benefit of approximately $2.8 million related to concluded United States 
and foreign tax examinations that were settled more favorably than anticipated.  Excluding the $2.8 
million benefit recorded for Fiscal 2004, our effective income tax rate for Fiscal 2005 has decreased from 
the previous year due to a greater proportion of earnings from our International operations.  This is 
primarily due to the fact that our combined effective income tax rate for International operations is 
generally lower than our effective income tax rate for domestic operations.  Our effective income tax rate 
in future periods will depend on several variables, including the mix of earnings between domestic and 
International operations and our overall level of earnings.  Our effective income tax rate could also be 
affected by the resolution of tax contingencies for amounts different from our current estimates. 

Income from continuing operations increased by approximately $31.2 million and $37.1 million during 
each of Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004, respectively.  These increases were made possible primarily by the 
increase in comparable store sales and improved merchandise margins achieved during the period, as well 
as the leverage attained on our fixed costs. 
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Seasonality and Quarterly Results 

Our business is seasonal by nature, with the Christmas, Easter and back-to-school periods historically 
accounting for the largest percentage of annual net sales.  In Fiscal 2005, the Christmas, Easter and back-
to-school periods together accounted for approximately 30% of our annual net sales.  See Note 10 of our 
consolidated financial statements for our quarterly results of operations. 

Impact of Inflation 

Inflation impacts several of our operating costs including, but not limited to cost of goods and supplies, 
occupancy costs and labor expenses.  We seek to mitigate these effects by passing along inflationary 
increases in costs through increased sales prices of our products or by increasing sales volumes. 

Matters Affecting Comparability 

Included within Interest and other income during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004 is approximately $1.7 
million and $1.2 million, respectively, of income recognized on our investment in Claire’s Nippon.  We 
recorded no income during Fiscal 2003 as our portion of losses incurred by Claire’s Nippon were in 
excess of our investment and advances.  Under the equity method of accounting, those losses would not 
be reflected in our financial statements once our investment and advances were reduced to zero.  Store 
counts for the three years included in the tables above and below exclude Claire's Nippon stores. 

We believe that an understanding of our reported results and our ongoing financial performance is not 
complete without considering this impact and other transactions, as described within Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation. 

Segment Operations 

We are organized into two business segments – North America and International.  Following is a 
discussion of results of operations by business segment. 

North America 

Key statistics and results of operations for our North American division are as follows (dollars in 
thousands): 

 Fiscal Year 
 2005 2004 2003 
    
Net sales  $906,071  $820,332  $740,838 
Comparable store sales  10.0%  10.0% 6.0%
Gross profit percentage  53.9%  54.5% 52.1%
Number of stores at the end of the period (1)  2,119  2,112  2,150 
    
(1)Number of stores excludes Claire’s Nippon    
 

It is our objective to increase sales in North America primarily through generating comparable store sales 
increases and also by increasing our quantity of our selling square footage. 

Net sales in North America during Fiscal 2005 increased by $85.7 million, or 10.5%, from Fiscal 2004, 
which in turn was $79.5 million, or 10.7% higher than Fiscal 2003.  The increase in Net sales was 
primarily attributable to comparable store sales increases of 10.0% and 10.0% or approximately $80.4 and 
$72.4 million during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004, respectively, and were primarily driven by an increase 
in the number of transactions per store. 
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The positive comparable sales experienced in North America were across most merchandise categories, 
most notably in the jewelry related areas.  We believe we experienced this trend through successfully 
meeting our customers' demand for current fashion trends in jewelry and superior customer service in our 
stores.  In addition, best practices in merchandise buying, planning and allocation from Claire’s have been 
shared with the Icing by Claire’s and Afterthoughts stores, which we believe have contributed 
significantly to the comparable store sales increases experienced during Fiscal 2005. 

The following table compares our sales of each product category for the last three fiscal years: 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29, 2005 Jan. 31, 2004 Feb. 1, 2003 
Jewelry 62.6% 59.7% 54.0% 
Accessories 37.4% 40.3% 46.0% 
 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

The higher concentration of sales in jewelry as compared to accessories experienced during Fiscal 2005 
and 2004 has had the result of improved gross profit margins due to the higher initial markup realized on 
jewelry. 

International Division 

Key statistics and results of operations for our International division are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 Fiscal Year 
 2005 2004 2003 
    
Net sales  $373,336  $312,502  $260,699 
Comparable store sales  4.0%  (2.0)%  2.0%
Gross profit percentage  54.4%  51.7%  49.3%
Number of stores at the end of the period(1)  717  700  653 
    
(1)Number of stores excludes Claire’s Nippon    
 

It is our objective to increase sales in the International division primarily through store growth and also 
through comparable store sales increases.  We also continue to explore adding operations in countries in 
which we do not currently operate. 

Net sales in our International division during Fiscal 2005 increased by $60.8 million, or 19.5%, from 
Fiscal 2004, which in turn was $51.8 million, or 19.9% higher than Fiscal 2003.  The increase in Net sales 
during Fiscal 2005 was primarily attributable to the net addition of 17 stores, the effects of the weak US 
Dollar when translating our foreign operations at higher exchange rates of approximately $34.4 million 
and by comparable store sales increases of 4.0%, or approximately $11.8 million during the period.  The 
comparable store sales increase in Fiscal 2005 was primarily driven by an average increase in the number 
of units sold in each transaction. 

The increase in Net sales during Fiscal 2004 was primarily attributable to the net addition of 47 stores, the 
effects of the weak US Dollar when translating our foreign operations at higher exchange rates of 
approximately $29.8 million, offset by comparable store sales decreases of 2.0%, or approximately $5.9 
million during the period.  We believe that the deterioration of comparable store sales during Fiscal 2004 
was caused both by the difficult economic environments in several European countries for which we have 
store locations and also the deviation from best practices learned and practiced in our North American 
operations. 
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The following table compares our sales of each product category for the last three fiscal years: 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29, 2005 Jan. 31, 2004 Feb. 1, 2003 
Jewelry 40.3% 36.5% 31.4% 
Accessories 59.7% 63.5% 68.6% 
 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

Gross profit percentages improved by 270 basis points in Fiscal 2005 and by 240 basis points in Fiscal 
2004.  The primary source of this improvement during both fiscal years was the ability of our 
International division to source a significant portion of goods at a lower cost due to those goods being 
purchased from our vendors in US Dollars, or approximately $4.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively.  
The lower cost was available due to the weakness in the US Dollar as compared to the British Pound and 
the Euro.  Most of the goods sourced for sale in our International division are purchased in US Dollars. 

Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition 

A summary of cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities is outlined in the table below 
(dollars in thousands): 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 January 29, 2005 January 31, 2004 February 1, 2003 
    
Operating activities $199,290 $204,407 $167,235 
Investing activities (205,635) (58,709) (51,122) 
Financing activities (28,141) (113,980) (24,833) 

We have consistently satisfied operating liquidity needs and planned capital expenditure programs 
through our normal conversion of sales to cash.  Over the three years ended in Fiscal 2005, we generated 
over $570.9 million of cash flows from operating activities from continuing operations.  We ended the 
year with approximately $191.0 million in cash and cash equivalents and $134.6 million in short-term 
investments, an overall increase of $101.0 million from the prior year.  We ended the year with no debt 
outstanding.  The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was due to cash generated from operations and 
purchases, net of sales, of short-term investments, offset by capital expenditures and the payment of 
dividends. 

Our major source of cash from operations is store sales, nearly all of which are generated on a cash or 
credit card basis.  Our primary outflow of cash from operations is the purchase of short-term investments 
and inventory (net of customary credit arrangements with vendors), operational costs and the payment of 
current taxes. 

Working capital at the end of Fiscal 2005 was $326.4 million compared to $216.7 million at the end of 
Fiscal 2004.  Changes in working capital reflect higher inventory levels and prepaid expenses, offset by 
higher accounts payable, which is due to the timing of inventory payments and increased accrued 
expenses, which reflects the increased bonuses earned by store, field and corporate employees that were 
not yet paid at the end of the year. 
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Our $63.6 million of capital expenditures in Fiscal 2005 were made primarily to remodel existing stores 
and to open new stores.  We generally experience a noticeable increase in sales in locations where a store 
has been recently remodeled.  We also invested approximately $7.5 million during Fiscal 2005 in 
intangible assets within our International division which generally represents acquired lease rights on new 
store locations in certain countries.  We expect to fund between $75.0 million and $85.0 million of capital 
expenditures and $10.0 million to $15.0 million of purchased lease rights in Fiscal 2006 in an effort to 
continue to remodel and expand our store base.  In addition, purchases, net of sales of short-term 
investments, amounted to $134.6 million during Fiscal 2005. 

We also paid dividends of $28.9 million during Fiscal 2005, an increase of approximately $15.6 million 
from the prior year.  Dividends were increased again at the end of Fiscal 2005, and as of March 15, 2005, 
we expect to pay at least $38.6 million in dividends in Fiscal 2006. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We entered into a new credit facility in March 2004.  This credit facility is a revolving line of credit of up 
to $60.0 million, is secured by inventory in the United States and is due to expire March 31, 2009.  The 
borrowings under this facility are limited based on certain calculations of availability, based primarily on 
the amount of inventory on hand in the United States.  At January 29, 2005, the entire amount of $60.0 
million would have been available for borrowing by us, subject to reduction for $2.6 million of 
outstanding letters of credit.  The credit facility is cancelable by us without penalty and bears interest at 
an initial margin of 75 basis points over the London Interbank Borrowing Rate (LIBOR).  The margin is 
then adjusted periodically based on certain liquidity measurements.  The credit facility also contains other 
restrictive covenants which limit, among other things, our ability to make dividend distributions.  This 
credit facility replaced our prior credit facility, which included a $40.0 million revolving line of credit and 
a $175.0 million five year term loan. 

Our non-US subsidiaries have available credit facilities totaling approximately $843,000 with banks.  The 
facilities are used for working capital requirements, letters of credit and various guarantees. These credit 
facilities have been arranged in accordance with customary lending practices in their respective countries 
of operation.  At January 29, 2005, there were no borrowings under these credit facilities. 

Management believes that our present ability to borrow is greater than our established credit lines.  
However, if market conditions change and sales were to dramatically decline or we could not control 
operating costs or other expenses, our cash flows and liquidity could be reduced, and we could experience 
an increase in borrowing costs, or even a reduction in or elimination of our access to debt and/or equity 
markets. 

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We finance certain leasehold improvements and equipment used in our stores through transactions 
accounted for as non-cancelable operating leases.  As a result, the rental expense for these leasehold 
improvements and equipment is recorded during the term of the lease contract in our consolidated 
financial statements, generally over four to seven years.  In the event that any of the real property leases 
where leasehold improvements or equipment are located that are subject to these non-cancelable 
operating leases are terminated by us or our landlord prior to the scheduled expiration date of the real 
property lease, we will be required to accrue all future rent payments under these operating leases. 
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As of January 29, 2005, our future financial commitments under our arrangements were as follows: 

 Payments Due by Period 

Contractual 
Obligations 
(in millions) Total 

Less than 1
year 1-3 years 3-5 years 

More than
5 years 

Operating leases for 
real estate 

 $856.2  $151.2  $274.1  $217.6  $213.3 

Operating leases for 
equipment and 
leasehold 
improvements 

 10.2  5.8  4.2  .2  - 

Letters of credit  2.6  2.6  -  -  - 

Total $869.0  $159.6  $278.3  $217.8  $213.3 

In Fiscal 2003, we disposed of our apparel segment, which was comprised of “Mr. Rags” stores, or Lux 
Corp.  As of January 29, 2005, we remained guarantor on certain real estate leases for Mr. Rags store 
locations with future rental payments of approximately $4.2 million. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, ("FASB") issued Interpretation No. 46 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”.  The interpretation requires certain variable interest entities, 
as defined, to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity 
do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for 
the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.  
FIN 46, as amended, is effective for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after January 31, 
2003.  For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46 
must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after December 15, 2003.  In December 
2003, the FASB issued a revision to FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to clarify some of the provisions of the 
interpretation and defer the implementation date for certain entities to periods ending after March 14, 
2004.  The adoption of FIN 46R did not have an impact on our consolidated financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 123R, 
“Share-Based Payment,” a revision of SFAS 123.  The standard requires companies to expense the grant-
date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to employees and is effective 
for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005.  In accordance with the revised statement, we 
will be required to recognize the expense attributable to stock options granted or vested subsequent to 
July 30, 2005.  We are evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R.  We have not yet determined the 
method of adoption or the effect of adopting SFAS 123R, and we have not determined whether the 
adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123 in 
Note 1 of the Notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors 

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, or the Act, provides a safe harbor for "forward-
looking statements" made by or on our behalf.  We and our representatives may from time to time make 
written or verbal forward-looking statements, including statements contained in this and other filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and in our press releases and reports to shareholders.  All 
statements which address operating performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will 
occur in the future, including statements relating to our future financial performance, planned capital 
expenditures and new store openings for Fiscal 2006, are forward-looking statements within the meaning 
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of the Act and as defined in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The 
forward-looking statements are and will be based on management's then current views and assumptions 
regarding future events and operating performance and we assume no obligation to update any forward-
looking statement.  Forward-looking statements involve known or unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors, including changes in estimates and judgments discussed under “Critical Accounting Policies and 
Estimates” which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results to be 
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements. 

We believe that the following factors, among others, that are specific to our business, could cause or 
contribute to our actual results, performance or achievements differing from the future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements: 

• inability to respond to emerging fashion trends, including decreased demand for jewelry 

• changes in customer preference after merchandise has been purchased by us, which could result 
in markdowns of our sales prices 

• adverse changes in our relationships with designers, vendors and other sources of merchandise 

• inability to adequately stock inventory to meet demand 

• inability to execute our international expansion or successfully integrate our International 
operations 

• inability to increase comparable store sales at recent historical rates 

• inability to design and implement new information systems, as well as enhance existing systems 

• loss of one or more members of our senior management team 

• disruption in the operation of our North American or International distribution centers 

• inability to negotiate favorable lease terms for new leases or renewal leases 

• delays in anticipated store openings and renovations 

• adverse determinations on litigation matters not covered by insurance 

• inability to formulate or execute a long-term strategic plan 

We believe that the following factors, among others, that are general to our business, could cause or 
contribute to our actual results, performance or achievements differing from the future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements: 

• changes in economic conditions, including, but not limited to, recessionary or inflationary trends, 
increased gasoline prices affecting travel to our retail locations, and overall consumer confidence 

• potential new competition from both retail stores and alternative methods or channels of 
distribution 

• impact of seasonal buying patterns, which are difficult to forecast with certainty 
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• changes in the cost or availability of a suitable workforce to manage and support our operating 
strategies, including further increases in the federal minimum wage or enactment of additional 
state or local “living wage” proposals 

• potential tariffs or trade restrictions imposed on products that we import 

• fluctuation of the US Dollar against foreign currencies 

• adjustments to the exchange rate of the Chinese Yuan from a fixed exchange rate against the US 
Dollar to a flexible exchange rate which would cause our cost of merchandise imported from 
China to fluctuate 

• terrorist activities in the US or abroad, as well as the international war on terrorism, or other 
events resulting in short or long-term disruption in business at our stores, distribution centers or 
offices 

• disruption of international, national or regional transportation systems, including dock strikes or 
increased security measures 

• lack of availability or access to sources of inventory 

• imposition of new restrictions or regulations regarding importation of our merchandise or on the 
composition of the merchandise that we sell 

• occurrence of severe weather events or natural disasters, which could significantly damage or 
destroy retail locations or prohibit customers from traveling to our retail locations, especially 
during peak holiday seasons 

• changes in tax rules or regulations applicable to us 

• increases in ocean freight rates 

• inability to timely receive Asian shipments due to the potential emergence of a disease 

• volatility of financial markets 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

Foreign Currency 

We are exposed to market risk from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on the US Dollar value 
of foreign currency denominated transactions and our investment in foreign subsidiaries.  We manage this 
exposure to market risk through our regular operating and financing activities, and foreign currency 
options.  Exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to foreign 
operations' buying, selling and financing in currencies other than local currencies and to the carrying 
value of net investments in foreign subsidiaries.  We may manage our exposure to foreign exchange rate 
risk related to our foreign operations' buying, selling and financing in currencies other than local 
currencies by using foreign currency options from time to time to hedge foreign currency transactional 
exposure.  At January 29, 2005, we had not entered into foreign currency options.  We do not generally 
hedge the translation exposure related to our net investment in foreign subsidiaries, since we generally 
have no near term intent to repatriate funds from such subsidiaries.  During Fiscal 2005, included in 
comprehensive income and stockholders’ equity is $7.9 million reflecting foreign currency translation.  
Based on our average net currency positions in Fiscal 2005, the potential gain or loss due to a 10% 
adverse change on foreign currency exchange rates could be significant to our operations. 
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Certain of our subsidiaries make significant US Dollar purchases from Asian suppliers, particularly in 
China.  There continues to be speculation that China may elect to adjust the exchange rate of the Chinese 
Yuan against the US Dollar.  Currently, the Chinese Yuan has a fixed exchange rate against the US 
Dollar.  If China adjusts the exchange rate or allows the value to float, based on the current weak US 
Dollar, we could experience increases in our cost of merchandise imported from China. 

The results of operations of foreign subsidiaries, when translated into US Dollars, reflect the average rates 
of exchange for the periods presented.  As a result, similar results in local currency can vary significantly 
upon translation into US Dollars if exchange rates fluctuate significantly from one period to the next. 

Interest Rates 

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is limited to our cash, cash equivalents and debt.  
Based on our average invested cash balances and outstanding debt during Fiscal 2005, a 10% increase in 
the average effective interest rate in Fiscal 2005 would not have materially impacted our annual interest 
income or expense. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Claire’s Stores, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Claire’s Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries 
as of January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the fiscal years ended January 
29, 2005, January 31, 2004, and February 1, 2003.  These consolidated financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Claire’s Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of January 29, 2005 and January 
31, 2004 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal years ended January 29, 
2005, January 31, 2004, and February 1, 2003 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of 
accounting for goodwill and intangible assets in the fiscal year ended February 1, 2003. 
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Claire’s Stores, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of January 29, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report 
dated April 12, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective 
operation of, internal control over financial reporting. 

 

/S/KPMG LLP 
Tampa, Florida 
April 12, 2005 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Claire’s Stores, Inc.: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Claire’s Stores, Inc. maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of January 29, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). Claire’s Stores, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
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In our opinion, management’s assessment that Claire’s Stores, Inc. maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of January 29, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Claire’s Stores, Inc. 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 29, 
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Claire’s Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the fiscal years ended January 
29, 2005, January 31, 2004, and February 1, 2003, and our report dated April 12, 2005 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. 

 

/S/KPMG LLP 
Tampa, Florida 
April 12, 2005 
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CLAIRE’S STORES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

 Jan. 29, 
2005 

Jan. 31, 
2004 

ASSETS (In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $191,006 $224,630 
Short-term investments 134,613 - 
Inventories 110,072 92,498 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 57,635 42,895 

Total current assets 493,326 360,023 
Property and equipment:   

Land and building 18,151 18,151 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 238,022 225,425 
Leasehold improvements 211,721 186,760 

 467,894 430,336 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (263,368) (244,484) 

 204,526 185,852 
   
   
Intangible assets, net 52,474 43,896 
Other assets 14,736 16,351 
Goodwill 201,067 199,802 
 268,277 260,049 
   
Total assets $966,129 $805,924 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Current liabilities:   

Trade accounts payable $  41,994 $  37,754 
Income taxes payable 30,600 29,148 
Accrued expenses 94,344 76,424 

Total current liabilities 166,938 143,326 
   
Long term liabilities:   

Deferred tax liability 24,293 12,148 
Deferred rent expense 19,211 18,000 

 43,504 30,148 
Commitments and contingencies - - 
   
Stockholders’ equity:   

Preferred stock par value $1.00 per share; authorized 1,000,000 
shares, issued and outstanding 0 shares - - 

Class A common stock par value $.05 per share; authorized 
20,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding 5,125,432 shares 
and 5,221,660 shares, respectively 256 261 

Common stock par value $.05 per share; authorized 
150,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding 93,858,213 
shares and 93,693,448 shares, respectively 4,693 4,685 

Additional paid-in capital 50,477 49,392 
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax 28,041 20,109 
Retained earnings 672,220 558,003 

   
 755,687 632,450 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $966,129 $805,924 

   
 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CLAIRE’S STORES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29, 2005 Jan. 31, 2004 Feb. 1, 2003 
 (In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Net sales  $1,279,407  $1,132,834  $1,001,537 
Cost of sales, occupancy and buying expenses 587,687 524,455 486,858 
Gross profit 691,720 608,379 514,679 
Other expenses (income):    

Selling, general and administrative 430,867 394,152 355,093 
Depreciation and amortization 44,882 41,451 37,897 
Interest expense 193 2,561 4,435 
Interest and other income (5,858) (4,207) (2,869) 
 470,084 433,957 394,556 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 221,636 174,422 120,123 

Income taxes 75,377 59,384 42,144 
Income from continuing operations 146,259 115,038 77,979 

Discontinued operation (Note 4):    
Loss on disposal of Lux Corp., net of income taxes of 

$1,865, $0 and $141, respectively (3,135) - (235) 
Net loss from discontinued operations (3,135) - (235) 
Net income 143,124 115,038 77,744 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 7,932 12,890 23,928 
Comprehensive income  $ 151,056  $ 127,928  $ 101,672 

Net income per share:    
Basic:    

Income from continuing operations  $ 1.48    $ 1.17    $ .80   
Loss from discontinued operations   (.03)  - - 

Net income per share  $ 1.45    $ 1.17    $ .80   
Diluted:    

Income from continuing operations  $ 1.47    $ 1.17    $ .80   
Loss from discontinued operations   (.03)  - - 

Net income per share  $ 1.44    $ 1.17    $ .80   
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:    

Basic 98,937 97,955 97,434 
Diluted 99,310 98,440 97,782 

 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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panying notes to consolidated financial statem
ents. 



 

 31

CLAIRE’S STORES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29, 2005 Jan. 31, 2004 Feb. 1, 2003 
 (In thousands) 
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net income $ 143,124 $ 115,038 $ 77,744
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
provided by operating activities:    

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax benefit   3,135   -   235
Impairment of intangible assets   -   -   961
Impairment of long-lived assets   -   -   2,728
(Gain) loss on sale of intangible assets   (170)   (409)   137
Depreciation and amortization   44,882   41,451   37,897
Amortization of intangible assets   1,129   1,211   726
Loss on retirement of property and equipment   3,253   2,923   2,262
Tax benefit of stock options   323   3,900   -
Stock option compensation expense   -   2,416   -

(Increase) decrease in -    
Inventories   (15,959)   (1,192)   (6,784)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (4,830)   (1,330)   2,663

Increase (decrease) in -    
Trade accounts payable   3,489   200   10,126
Income taxes payable   3,657   15,638   8,086
Accrued expenses   11,725   22,393   16,919
Deferred income taxes   4,502   797   12,300
Deferred rent expense   1,030   1,371   1,121

Net cash provided by continuing operations   199,290   204,407   167,121
Net cash provided by discontinued operations   -   -   114
Net cash provided by operating activities   199,290   204,407   167,235
    
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Acquisition of property and equipment   (63,567)   (48,838)   (45,448)
Acquisition of intangible assets   (7,455)   (9,871)   (6,885)
Purchase of short-term investments   (246,234)   -   -
Sale of short-term investments   111,621   -   1,563
Capital expenditures of discontinued operations   -   -   (352)

    
Net cash used in investing activities   (205,635)   (58,709)   (51,122)
    
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Principal payments on term loan   -   (85,932)   (20,227)
Principal payments on lines of credit   -   (25,000)   -
Proceeds from stock options exercised   766   10,292   2,971
Dividends paid   (28,907)   (13,340)   (7,577)

    
Net cash used in financing activities   (28,141)   (113,980)   (24,833)
    
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents   862   (2,570)   4,290
    
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (33,624)   29,148   95,570
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   224,630   195,482   99,912
    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 191,006 $ 224,630 $ 195,482

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CLAIRE’S STORES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

Nature of Operations - Claire’s Stores, Inc., a Florida corporation, and subsidiaries (collectively the 
“Company”), is a leading retailer of value-priced fashion accessories targeted towards pre-teens, 
teenagers and young adults.  The Company operates stores throughout the United States, Puerto Rico, 
Canada, the Virgin Islands, the United Kingdom, Switzerland, Austria, Germany, (the latter three 
collectively referred to as "S.A.G."), France, Ireland and Japan. 

Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries.  The Company’s 50% ownership interest in its Japanese joint venture 
(Claire’s Nippon) is accounted for under the equity method.  All material intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  All references in the Company’s financial statements 
to number of shares, per share amounts, stock option data and market prices of the Company’s Common 
stock have been restated to give effect to the 2-for-1 stock split of the Company’s Common stock and 
Class A common stock in the form of a 100% stock dividend in December 2003. 

Reclassifications - The consolidated financial statements include certain reclassifications of prior period 
amounts in order to conform to current year presentation. 

Use of Estimates - These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require management to 
make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  The most significant estimates include 
valuation of inventories, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, provisions for income taxes and 
contingencies and litigation.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Fiscal Year - The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. Fiscal year 2005 
consisted of 52 weeks and ended on January 29, 2005, Fiscal year 2004 consisted of 52 weeks and ended 
on January 31, 2004 and Fiscal year 2003 consisted of 52 weeks and ended on February 1, 2003. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an 
original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. 

Short-term Investments - All short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at 
par plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value.  There were no unrealized gains or losses at 
January 29, 2005.  At January 29, 2005, these investments consist of auction rate securities with original 
maturities over 90 days.  The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. 

The Company views its portfolio of auction rate securities with maturity beyond 90 days to be available 
for use in current operations and has accordingly classified such marketable investments as short-term 
investments, even though the stated maturity dates may be one year or more beyond the current balance 
sheet date. 

Inventories - Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.  Cost is determined by the 
first-in, first-out basis using the retail method in North America and S.A.G., while the UK, Ireland and 
France use average cost.  Approximately 18% and 16% of the Company’s inventory was maintained 
using the average cost method in Fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. 



33 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets - Prepaid expenses and other current assets include the 
following components as of the period indicated (dollars in thousands): 

 Jan. 29,  Jan. 31, 
 2005  2004 
    
Prepaid Rent  $26,696   $25,843 
Deferred tax asset  12,246   3,544 
Other  18,693   13,508 
  $57,635    $42,895  

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Depreciation is computed on the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the building and the furniture, fixtures and 
equipment, which range from three to twenty-five years.  Amortization of leasehold improvements is 
computed on the straight-line method based upon the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or 
the terms of the respective leases. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to earnings while 
expenditures for major improvements are capitalized.  Upon the disposition of property, plant and 
equipment, the accumulated depreciation is deducted from the original cost and any gain or loss is 
reflected in current earnings. 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment under the provisions of Financial Accounting 
Standards Board, (“FASB”) Statement No. 144, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the net book value of an asset may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is 
measured by a comparison of the net book value of an asset to the future net undiscounted cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset.  An impairment loss would be recorded for the excess of the net 
book value over the fair value of the asset impaired.  The fair value is estimated based on expected 
discounted future cash flows.  Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value less cost to sell and are no longer depreciated.  The Company recorded no impairment charges 
during the year ended January 31, 2004 or January 29, 2005. The Company recorded approximately $2.7 
million during the year ended February 1, 2003 related to fixed assets in the International segment due to 
those assets not being recoverable by discounted cash flows.  The impairment charge is included within 
the financial statement caption “Selling, general and administrative” expenses within the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 

Goodwill - Effective February 3, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards 142 (“SFAS 142”), “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  In accordance with SFAS 142, 
the Company ceased amortizing its goodwill effective February 3, 2002.  The Company had $201.1 
million and $199.8 million of unamortized goodwill at January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004, 
respectively.  The Company had $18.2 million and $18.1 million of accumulative goodwill amortization 
at January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively. 

SFAS 142 required the Company upon its adoption to reassess the value of, and useful lives assigned to, 
intangible assets including goodwill to determine whether the value is impaired.  The first step of this 
impairment test required the Company, within the first six months of Fiscal 2003, to determine the fair 
value of its reporting units, as defined by SFAS 142, and compare it to the carrying value of the net assets 
allocated to the reporting units.  If this fair value exceeded the carrying value, no further analysis was 
required.  If the fair value of the reporting unit was less than the carrying value of the net assets, the 
Company was required to perform step two of the impairment test, which required the Company to 
allocate the implied fair value of the reporting unit to all underlying assets and liabilities, including both 
recognized and unrecognized tangible and intangible assets, based on their fair value.  The Company 
performed a transitional goodwill impairment test as required and determined that no goodwill 
impairment existed at February 3, 2002. 

SFAS 142 also requires the Company to perform a goodwill and intangible assets impairment test on an 
annual basis. Any impairment charges resulting from the application of this test in the future would be 
immediately recorded as a charge to earnings in the Company’s statement of operations.  The Company 
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performed these impairment tests as of the first day of the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2005 
and determined that no impairment exists. 

Other Assets - Other assets primarily include deposits and the non-current portion of prepaid lease 
payments on leasehold improvements and equipment financed under non-cancelable operating leases.  
The prepaid lease payments are amortized on a straight line basis over the respective lease terms, 
typically ranging from four to seven years.  Also included is the Company's investment in its 
unconsolidated subsidiary in the amount of $3.2 million and $1.2 million at January 29, 2005 and January 
31, 2004, respectively. 

Intangible Assets - The Company has concluded that certain intangible assets, comprised primarily of 
lease rights, qualify as indefinite-life intangible assets under SFAS 142.  Fair market value of the lease 
rights was determined through the use of third-party valuations.  In addition, the Company makes 
investments through its International subsidiaries in intangible assets upon the opening and acquisition of 
many of our store locations in Europe.  These other intangible assets which are subject to amortization are 
amortized over the useful lives of the respective leases, not to exceed 25 years.  The Company evaluates 
the market value of its intangible assets periodically and records an impairment charge when the 
Company believes the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable.  The Company recorded 
impairment charges of approximately $1.0 million in Fiscal 2003, included within selling, general and 
administrative expenses, because the market value of certain lease rights included in its International 
segment were determined to be less than their carrying values.  No impairment charges related to these 
assets were recorded during Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004.  The following table summarizes certain 
information regarding intangible assets at the respective periods, (dollars in thousands): 

 
  Non-Amortizable  Amortizable  Weighted Average Amortization 
  Amount  Amount  Period for Amortizable 
Amortizable Lease Right Acquisitions  Acquired  Acquired  Lease Rights Acquisitions 
      (in years) 
   
January 29, 2005  $7,310  $   913  10.3 
  
January 31, 2004  $9,348  $1,045  9.0 
  
February 1, 2003  $6,840  $   244  9.5 

Amortization expense on these intangible assets is expected to be approximately $1.0 million for each of 
the next five years.  The weighted average amortization period of amortized intangible assets as of 
January 29, 2005 approximates 14 years. 

Accrued Expenses - Accrued expenses include the following components as of the period indicated 
(dollars in thousands): 

 Jan. 29,  Jan. 31, 
 2005  2004 
    
Compensation and benefits  $39,464   $33,056 
Sales and local taxes  9,529   9,172 
Gift cards  11,625   7,825 
Other  33,726   26,371 
  $94,344   $76,424 

 Jan. 29,  Jan. 31, 
 2005  2004 
 Gross  Accumulated  Gross  Accumulated 
 Carrying Amount  Amortization  Carrying Amount  Amortization 

Amortizable lease rights $19,275  $10,218  $18,455  $9,000 
Non-amortizable lease rights 43,417  -  34,441  - 
 $62,692  $10,218  $52,896  $9,000 
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Revenue Recognition - The Company recognizes sales as the customer takes possession of the 
merchandise.  The estimated liability for sales returns is based on the historical return levels, which is 
included in accrued expenses. 

Cost of Sales - Included within the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations line item “Cost of 
sales, occupancy and buying expenses” is the cost of merchandise sold to our customers, inbound and 
outbound freight charges, purchasing costs and inspection costs.  Also included in this line item are the 
occupancy costs of the Company’s stores and the Company’s internal costs of facilitating the merchandise 
procurement process, both of which are treated as period costs.  All merchandise purchased by the 
Company is shipped to one of its three distribution centers.  As a result, the Company has no internal 
transfer costs.  The cost of the Company’s distribution center is included within the financial statement 
line item “Selling, general and administrative” expenses, and not in “Cost of sales, occupancy and buying 
expenses”.  These distribution center costs were approximately $10.7 million, $9.2 million and $9.0 
million in Fiscal 2005, Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2003, respectively. 

Leasing - The Company recognizes rent expense for operating leases with periods of free rent (including 
construction periods), step rent provisions and escalation clauses on a straight line basis over the 
applicable lease term.  The Company considers lease renewals in the useful life of its leasehold 
improvements when such renewals are reasonably assured.  The Company takes these provisions into 
account when calculating minimum aggregate rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases 
set forth below.  From time to time, the Company may receive capital improvement funding from its 
lessors.  These amounts are recorded as deferred liabilities and amortized over the remaining lease term as 
a reduction of rent expense. 

Basic and Diluted Shares - Basic net income per share is based on the weighted average number of shares 
of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock outstanding during the period.  Diluted net income per 
share includes the dilutive effect of stock options plus the number of shares included in basic net income 
per share.  Options to purchase 326,604 and 328,346 shares of common stock, at $16.93 per share and 
prices ranging from $10.78 to $15.13 per share, respectively, were outstanding for the years ended 
January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the 
common shares for the respective fiscal year.  All options outstanding at January 29, 2005 were included 
in the calculation of diluted shares. 

Income Taxes - The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions of SFAS 109 which 
generally requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax 
consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial 
statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect for the 
year in which the differences are expected to reverse.  Under SFAS 109, the effect on deferred tax assets 
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment 
date. 

Foreign Currency Translation - The financial statements of the Company’s foreign operations are 
translated into US Dollars.  Assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates while income 
and expense accounts are translated at the average rates in effect during the year.  Equity accounts are 
translated at historical exchange rates.  Resulting translation adjustments are accumulated as a component 
of other comprehensive income.  Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies, including intercompany transactions, except for intercompany loans of 
a long-term investment nature, are included in results of operations. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of current 
assets and current liabilities.  Current assets and liabilities approximate fair market value. 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - The Company accounts for derivatives and hedging 
activities in accordance with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging 
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Activities, as amended, which requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at 
their respective fair values. 

The Company is exposed to market risk from foreign exchange rates.  The Company continues to 
evaluate these risks and continues to take measures to mitigate these risks, including, among other 
measures, entering into derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures to currency rates.  The 
Company enters into foreign currency options to minimize and manage the currency related to its import 
merchandise purchase program.  The counter-party to these contracts is a highly rated financial 
institution.  These foreign currency options are designated as cash flow hedges, as defined by SFAS 133, 
and are effective as hedges.  Accordingly, changes in the effective portion of the fair value of these 
foreign currency options are included in other comprehensive income.  Once the hedged transactions are 
completed, or when merchandise is sold, the unrealized gains and losses on the foreign currency options 
are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income and recognized in earnings.  The 
unrealized losses related to the import merchandise purchase program contracts, which were recorded in 
other comprehensive income, were not material for each period presented. 

Stock Options - SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS 148, 
"Accounting for Stock Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure", allows entities to choose 
between a fair value based method of accounting for employee stock options or similar equity instruments 
and the intrinsic value based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
25 (“APB 25”), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”  Entities electing to account for employee 
stock options or similar equity instruments under APB 25 must make pro forma disclosures of net income 
and earnings per share as if the fair value method of accounting had been applied.  The Company has 
elected to apply the provisions of APB 25 in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements and 
provide pro forma disclosure of net income and earnings per share as required under SFAS 123 and SFAS 
148 (dollars in thousands, except share data). 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 2005 2004 2003 
Net income – as reported  $143,124  $115,038  $77,744 
Stock-based employee compensation 

expense not included in reported 
net income, net of tax 

 
 

(1,944) 

 
 

(1,649) 

 
 

(840)
Stock-based employee compensation 

expense included in reported 
net income, net of tax  -  -  - 

Net income – pro forma  141,180  113,389  76,904 
Basic net income per share – as reported  1.45  1.17  .80 
Basic net income per share – pro forma  1.43  1.16  .79 
Diluted net income per share – as reported  1.44  1.17  .80 
Diluted net income per share – pro forma  1.42  1.15  .79 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”.  The interpretation requires certain variable interest entities, 
as defined, to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity 
do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for 
the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.  
FIN 46, as amended, is effective for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after January 31, 
2003.  For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46 
must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after December 15, 2003.  In December 
2003, the FASB issued a revision to FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to clarify some of the provisions of the 
interpretation and defer the implementation date for certain entities to periods ending after March 14, 
2004.  The adoption of FIN 46R did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows. 
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” a revision of SFAS 123.  The 
standard requires companies to expense the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based 
compensation issued to employees and is effective for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 
2005.  In accordance with the revised statement, the Company will be required to recognize the expense 
attributable to stock options granted or vested subsequent to July 30, 2005.  The Company is evaluating 
the requirements of SFAS 123R and has not yet determined the method of adoption or the effect of 
adopting SFAS 123R. 

2. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Payments of income taxes were $67.9 million in Fiscal 2005, $43.6 million in Fiscal 2004 and $20.5 
million in Fiscal 2003. Payments of interest were $.2 million in Fiscal 2005, $2.7 million in Fiscal 2004 
and $4.5 million in Fiscal 2003. 

3. CREDIT FACILITIES 

The Company entered into a new credit facility in March 2004.  This credit facility is a revolving line of 
credit of up to $60.0 million, is secured by inventory in the United States and expires on March 31, 2009.  
The borrowings under this facility are limited based on certain calculations of availability, primarily on 
the amount of inventory on hand in the United States.  At January 29, 2005, the entire amount of $60.0 
million would have been available for borrowing by the Company.  The credit facility is cancelable 
without penalty and bears interest at a margin of 75 basis points over the London Interbank Borrowing 
Rate (LIBOR).  The margin is adjusted periodically based on certain liquidity measurements.  The 
Company also had $2.6 million of issued letters of credit which are supported and considered drawn 
against the line of credit. 

In December of 1999, the Company entered into a credit facility pursuant to which the Company financed 
$200.0 million of the purchase price for Afterthoughts.  The credit facility included a $40.0 million 
revolving line of credit which would have matured on December 1, 2004, and a $175.0 million five year 
term loan, the first installment of which was paid on December 31, 2000, with future installments, 
thereafter, payable on a quarterly basis through December 1, 2004. The credit facility was prepayable 
without penalty and bore interest at a margin of 100 basis points over the LIBOR.  The margin was 
adjusted periodically based on the Company’s performance as it related to certain financial covenants.  
The Company terminated this facility on March 31, 2004. 

The Company’s non-US subsidiaries have available credit facilities totaling approximately $843,000 with 
banks.  The facilities are used for working capital requirements, letters of credit and various guarantees. 
These credit facilities have been arranged in accordance with customary lending practices in their 
respective countries of operation.  At January 29, 2005, there were no borrowings on these credit 
facilities. 

4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Leasing - The Company leases its retail stores, offices and warehouse space and certain equipment under 
operating leases which expire at various dates through the year 2030 with options to renew certain of such 
leases for additional periods.  The lease agreements covering retail store space provide for minimum 
rentals and/or rentals based on a percentage of net sales.  Rental expense for each of the three fiscal years 
ended January 29, 2005 is set forth below (in thousands): 

 Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 
Minimum store rentals $154,994 $143,067 $132,981 
Store rentals based on net sales 4,700 3,767 2,951 
Other rental expense 17,796 22,605 23,260 
Total rental expense from continuing operations $177,490 $169,439 $159,192 
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Fiscal 2005 also includes $1.5 million of rent expense recorded to account for the cumulative impact of 
not recording rent expense during the construction period prior to lease commencement. 
 
Minimum aggregate rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases are summarized by fiscal 
year ending as follows (in thousands): 
 

  
2006 $157,044 
2007 145,484 
2008 132,797 
2009 116,503 
2010 101,242 
Thereafter 213,289 
 $866,359 

 
Certain leases provide for payment of real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses of the 
properties. 

In other leases, some of these costs are included in the basic contractual rental payments.  Certain leases 
contain escalation clauses resulting from the pass-through of increases in operating costs, property taxes 
and the effect on costs from changes in consumer price indexes. 

SFAS 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," which addresses financial accounting and 
reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated 
asset retirement costs, was adopted by the Company on February 2, 2003.  SFAS 143 requires that the fair 
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a 
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made and that the associated asset retirement costs be capitalized 
as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.  The retirement obligation relates to costs 
associated with the retirement of leasehold improvements under store and warehouse leases, within the 
International division.  The cumulative effect adjustment recognized upon adoption of this standard and 
its impact on our results of operations or financial condition for each of the earlier periods presented was 
not material.  The Company had retirement obligations of $1.3 million and $1.5 million recorded at 
January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively. 

In Fiscal 2003, the Company disposed of its apparel segment, which was comprised of “Mr. Rags” stores, 
or Lux Corp.  At January 29, 2005, the Company remains guarantor on certain real estate leases for Mr. 
Rags store locations with future rental payments of approximately $4.2 million. 

Foreign Currency Options - From time to time, the Company has entered into short-term foreign currency 
options to hedge exposure to currency fluctuations between the British Pound and the US Dollar.  These 
contracts are accounted for as cash-flow hedges and are accounted for by adjusting the carrying amount of 
the contracts to market and recognizing any gain or loss in the accumulated other comprehensive income.  
The amount recognized in relation to these contracts was not material. 

The counterparty to the Company’s foreign currency options is a major financial institution.  The credit 
ratings and concentration of risk of the financial institution is monitored on a continuing basis.  In the 
unlikely event that the counterparty fails to meet the terms of a foreign currency contract, the Company’s 
exposure is limited to the foreign currency rate difference. 

Legal - The Company is, from time to time, involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business, 
including personal injury litigation, litigation regarding merchandise sold, including product and safety 
concerns regarding metal content in merchandise, litigation with respect to various employment matters, 
including litigation with present and former employees, and litigation to protect trademark rights.  In May 
2002, the Company sold the stock of Lux Corporation d/b/a Mr. Rags, and discontinued the operations of 
its apparel segment.  In January 2003, Lux Corporation filed for bankruptcy, and on November 7, 2003, 
the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of Lux Corporation, filed a complaint against the 
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Company in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California.  This litigation has 
been settled for $5 million ($3.1 million net of income taxes).  The settlement was approved by the 
bankruptcy court, without objection by any party in interest, on April 5, 2005.  The Company expects that 
a final order will be entered later this month.  Provided that no appeal is filed or rehearing sought within 
10 days after entry, the order will become final 10 days after its entry.  The settlement represents return of 
proceeds the Company received as a result of the sale, and has been recorded during fiscal year 2005 
within the financial statement line item “Net loss from discontinued operations.”  The Company believes 
that current pending litigation will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position, earnings or 
cash flows. 

Other 
Approximately 50% of the merchandise purchased by the Company was manufactured in China. Any 
event causing a sudden disruption of imports from China, or other foreign countries, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s operations. 

In November 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a retirement compensation package for 
the Company’s founder and former Chairman of the Board.  Management estimated that the retirement 
package would cost the Company approximately $8.7 million, which was recorded in the Company’s 
Statement of Operations within expenses titled “Selling, general and administrative”.  At January 29, 
2005, the Company’s estimated remaining liability relating to this package was approximately $5.2 
million. 

5. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Stock Split - On November 4, 2003, the Company's Board of Directors announced a 2-for-1 stock split of 
its Common stock and Class A common stock in the form of a 100% stock dividend distribution.  On 
December 19, 2003, 46,471,815 shares of Common stock and 2,611,989 shares of Class A common stock 
were distributed to stockholders.  Stockholders' equity has been adjusted to give recognition of the stock 
split by reclassifying from retained earnings to the Common stock and Class A common stock accounts 
the par value of the additional shares arising from the split.  In addition, all references in the financial 
statements to number of shares, per share amounts, stock option data and market prices of the Company's 
stock have been restated. 
 
Preferred Stock - The Company has authorized 1,000,000 shares of $1 par value preferred stock, none of 
which have been issued. The rights and preferences of such stock may be designated in the future by the 
Board of Directors. 

Class A Common Stock - The Class A common stock has only limited transferability and is not traded on 
any stock exchange or any organized market. However, the Class A common stock is convertible on a 
share-for-share basis into Common stock and may be sold, as Common stock, in open market 
transactions. The Class A common stock has ten votes per share. Dividends declared on the Class A 
common stock are limited to 50% of the dividends declared on the Common stock. 

Treasury Stock - Treasury stock acquired is recorded at cost. The Company may use treasury stock to 
fulfill its obligations under its stock option plans. When stock is issued pursuant to the stock option plans, 
the difference between the cost of treasury stock issued and the option price is charged or credited to 
additional paid-in capital.  In January 2003, the Company retired these shares. 

Rights to Purchase Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock - The Company's Board of Directors 
adopted a stockholder rights plan ("the Rights Plan") in May 2003. The Rights Plan has certain anti-
takeover provisions that may cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire the 
Company on terms not approved by the Board of Directors. Under the Rights Plan, each stockholder is 
issued one right to acquire one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock 
at an exercise price of $130.00, subject to adjustment, for each outstanding share of Common stock and 
Class A common stock they own. These rights are only exercisable if a single person or company acquires 
15% or more of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. If the Company were acquired, 
each right, except those of the acquirer, would entitle its holder to purchase the number of shares of 
common stock having a then-current market value of twice the exercise price. The Company may redeem 
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the rights for $.01 per right at any time prior to a triggering acquisition and, unless redeemed earlier, the 
rights would expire on May 30, 2013. 

6. STOCK OPTIONS 

On March 12, 2003, the Claire’s Stores, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan was amended and restated to, 
among other things, change the name of the 1996 Plan to the “Claire’s Stores, Inc. 1996 Incentive 
Compensation Plan” (as amended and restated, the “1996 Plan”).  Under the 1996 Plan, the Company 
may grant either incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options to purchase up to 8,000,000 shares 
of Common stock, plus any shares unused or recaptured from previous plans.  Incentive stock options 
granted under the 1996 Plan are exercisable at prices equal to the fair market value of shares at the date of 
grant, except that incentive stock options granted to any person holding 10% or more of the total 
combined voting power or value of all classes of capital stock of the Company, or any subsidiary of the 
Company, carry an exercise price equal to 110% of the fair market value at the date of grant.  The 
aggregate number of shares granted to any one person may not exceed 1,000,000.  Each incentive stock 
option or non-qualified stock option will terminate ten years after the date of grant (or such shorter period 
as specified in the grant) and may not be exercised thereafter. 

Incentive stock options currently outstanding are exercisable at various rates beginning one year from the 
date of grant, and expire five to ten years after the date of grant.  Non-qualified stock options currently 
outstanding are exercisable at prices equal to the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant and 
expire five to ten years after the date of grant. 

Options to purchase an additional 1,082,971 shares were outstanding, but not yet exercisable, at January 
29, 2005 under the 1996 Plan.  There were 7,295,792 shares of Common stock available for future option 
grants under the 1996 Plan at January 29, 2005 (which includes shares recaptured from the previous 
plans). 

A summary of the activity in the Company’s stock option plans is presented below: 

 Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 

 

Number of 
Shares 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

       
Outstanding at beginning of 

period 1,266,868 $14.23 1,669,096 $  8.52 2,569,954 $  9.40 
Options granted 350,000 $19.01 900,000 $16.77 - - 
Options exercised (68,555) $11.16 (1,235,728) $  8.30 (337,612) $  8.39 
Options canceled (36,500) $15.96 (66,500) $15.34 (563,246) $12.63 
Outstanding at end of period 1,511,813 $15.40 1,266,868 $14.23 1,669,096 $  8.52 
       
Exercisable at end of period 428,842 $12.39 189,534 $  8.73 978,648 $  8.14 
       
Weighted average fair value of 

options granted during the 
period (see below)  $10.19  $8.98  N/A 
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The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions: 

 

Fiscal 
2005 

Fiscal 
2004 

Fiscal 
2003 

Expected dividend yield 1.30% 1.40% N/A 
Expected stock price volatility 50.00% 50.00% N/A 
Risk-Free interest rate 4.60% 4.70% N/A 
Expected life of options 7 years 7 years N/A 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at January 29, 2005: 
 
 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Range of Exercise Prices 

Number of 
Shares 

Outstanding 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

$  4.00 to $5.95 27,500 1.05 $  4.18 25,000 $  4.00 
$  5.96 to $8.96 100,000 1.48 $  8.96 100,000 $  8.96 
$  8.97 to $13.40 296,813 5.32 $10.62 141,342 $11.08 
$16.93 to $22.04 1,087,500 8.76 $17.58 162,500 $16.93 
$  4.00 to $22.04 1,511,813 7.46 $15.40 428,842 $12.39 

 
The Company adopted SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, issued in October 1995.  
As permitted under the provisions of SFAS 123, the Company applies the principles of APB 25 and 
related interpretations in accounting for its stock option plans and, accordingly, does not recognize 
compensation cost in earnings. 

In December 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the acceleration of the vesting period on 
240,000 options to purchase the Company’s common stock in connection with the retirement 
compensation package granted to the Company’s founder and former Chairman of the Board.  As a result 
of this acceleration, $2.4 million of compensation expense was recorded by the Company during the year 
ended January 31, 2004. 

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

Profit Sharing Plan - The Company has adopted a Profit Sharing Plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code.  This plan allows employees who serve more than 1,000 hours per year to defer up to 18% 
of their income through contributions to the plan.  In line with the provisions of the plan, for every dollar 
the employee contributes the Company will contribute an additional $.50, up to 2% of the employee’s 
salary.  In Fiscal 2005, Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2003, the cost of Company matching contributions was 
$509,000, $603,000 and $507,000, respectively. 

Deferred Compensation Plans - In August 1999, the Company adopted a deferred compensation plan that 
enables certain associates of the Company to defer a specified percentage of their cash compensation.  
The plan generally provides for payments upon retirement, death, or termination of employment.  
Participants may elect to defer a percentage of their cash compensation while the Company contributes a 
specified percentage of the participants’ cash compensation based on the participants’ number of years of 
service.  All contributions are immediately vested.  The Company’s obligations under this plan are funded 
by making contributions to a rabbi trust.  Assets held under this plan totaled $4.6 million, $2.4 million 
and $1.3 million at January 29, 2005, January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively.  The 
obligations under the plan are included in accrued expenses.  Total Company contributions were 
$313,000, $197,000 and $151,000 in Fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
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8. INCOME TAXES 

Income before income taxes from continuing operations is as follows (in thousands): 

 Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal 
 2005 2004 2003 
    
Domestic $155,497 $125,567 $  97,239 
Foreign 66,139 48,855 22,884 
 $221,636 $174,422 $120,123 

The components of income tax expense (benefit) consist of the following (in thousands): 

 Fiscal Year Ended 

 
Jan. 29, 

2005 
Jan. 31, 

2004 
Feb. 1, 
2003 

Federal:    
Current $55,299 $38,307 $26,880 
Deferred 3,557 5,664 5,881 

 58,856 43,971 32,761 
State:    

Current 4,679 3,970 3,783 
Deferred 369 587 700 

 5,048 4,557 4,483 
Foreign:    

Current 10,836 9,373 4,900 
Deferred 637 1,483 - 
 11,473 10,856 4,900 

    
Total income tax expense from continuing operations 75,377 59,384 42,144 
Tax benefit of discontinued operations (1,865) - (141) 
Total income tax expense $73,512 $59,384 $42,003 
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The approximate tax effects on the significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax asset 
(liability) are as follows (in thousands): 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
 Jan. 29,  Jan. 31,  Feb. 1, 
 2005  2004  2003 
Deferred tax assets:      

Depreciation $          -  $         -  $         88 
Accrued expenses 4,193  2,647  2,555 
Deferred rent 3,555  3,265  2,844 
Discontinued operations 3,023  1,250  1,589 
Compensation & benefits 3,921  3,469  959 
Net operating loss carryforwards 6,388  5,236  4,096 
Other 1,381  1,567  870 

Total gross deferred tax assets 22,461  17,434  13,001 
      
Valuation allowance (5,884)  (5,236)  (4,096) 
Total deferred tax assets, net 16,577  12,198  8,905 
      
Deferred tax liabilities:      

Depreciation 9,139  3,804  - 
Operating leases 1,034  2,069  3,564 
Intangible asset amortization 17,607  12,962  11,809 
Other 844  848  233 

Total deferred tax liabilities 28,624  19,683  15,606 
      
Net deferred tax liability $(12,047)  $ (7,485)  $ (6,701) 

 
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations differs from an amount computed at the 
statutory federal rate as follows: 

 
Jan. 29, 

2005 
Jan. 31, 

2004 
Feb. 1, 
2003 

    
US income taxes at statutory federal rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 
Foreign income tax benefit at less than domestic rate (6.0) (5.3) (5.5) 
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 1.7 1.7 2.3 
Other, net 3.3 2.6 3.3 
 34.0% 34.0% 35.1% 

 
Our effective income tax rate for Fiscal 2005 and Fiscal 2004 was 34%.  During Fiscal 2005, the 
Company recorded net benefits to the provision for income taxes totaling approximately $.4 million 
attributable to concluded state tax examinations that were settled more favorably than anticipated.  During 
Fiscal 2004, the Company recorded net benefits to the provision for income taxes totaling $2.8 million 
attributable to concluded United States and foreign tax examinations that were settled more favorably 
than anticipated.  In addition, our tax rate is impacted by tax planning, marginally lower worldwide tax 
rates and the change in the mix of income attributed to the various countries in which we do business. 
 
As of January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004, net current deferred income tax assets of $12.2 million and 
$3.5 million, respectively, are classified as Other Current Assets in the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. 
 
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company provides 
valuation allowances to offset portions of deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding the future 
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realization of such deferred tax assets.  The Company adjusts the valuation allowance in the period 
management determines it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will or will not be realized.   
 
As of January 29, 2005, foreign subsidiaries of the Company had available net operating loss (“NOL”) 
carry forwards of approximately $16.0 million ($5.7 million after-tax) for foreign income tax purposes, 
all of which has an indefinite expiration. Generally, a valuation allowance of $15.7 million ($5.5 million 
after-tax) has been established for these carry forwards because the ability to utilize them is uncertain.  
Additionally, the Company had available state NOL carry forwards of approximately $28.0 million ($.7 
million after-tax) for domestic state income tax purposes.  The state carry forwards are subject to various 
expiration dates pursuant to the applicable statutes of the respective taxing jurisdictions.  A valuation 
allowance of $6.8 million ($.4 million after-tax) has been established for these carry forwards because the 
ability to utilize them is uncertain. 
 
A change in the valuation allowance of $.7 million from Fiscal 2004 to Fiscal 2005 was primarily the 
result of an increase in NOL carry forwards for current year losses in the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.  
The net change in the total valuation allowance for the years ended Fiscal 2005, 2004, and 2003 was an 
increase of $.7 million, $1.1 million, and $1.3 million, respectively.   
 
As of January 29, 2005, there are accumulated unremitted earnings from the Company’s foreign 
subsidiaries on which deferred taxes have not been provided as the undistributed earnings of the foreign 
subsidiaries are indefinitely reinvested.  Based on the current United States and foreign subsidiaries 
income tax rates, it is estimated that United States taxes, net of foreign tax credits, of approximately $42.7 
million would be due upon repatriation. 
 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income at January 29, 2005 and January 31, 2004 includes $7.0 
million and $5.8 million, respectively, resulting in an increase of $1.2 million related to the income tax 
effect of unrealized gains on foreign currency translation within the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. 
 
On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (“the AJCA”) was signed into law.  The AJCA 
includes a deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated, as defined in the AJCA.  The 
Company may elect to apply this provision to qualifying earnings repatriations in Fiscal 2006.  The 
Company is currently reviewing the provisions of the new law and has not yet determined the impact, if 
any, upon future financial statements. 
 
9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company leases its executive offices located in Pembroke Pines, Florida from Rowland Schaefer & 
Associates, a general partnership owned by two corporate general partners.  Each of our two Co-
Chairmen have an approximately 32% ownership interest in the general partnership, and our Chief 
Financial Officer has an approximately 5% ownership interest in the general partnership.  During Fiscal 
2005, 2004, and 2003, the Company paid Rowland Schaefer & Associates, Inc. $1,147,000, $900,000, 
and $874,000, respectively, for rent, real estate taxes, and operating expenses as required under the lease.  
After obtaining approval of the Company’s Corporate Governance/Nominating Committee, the Company 
executed a new lease in January 2004 which expires on December 31, 2013. 

The Company leases retail space for a Claire’s Boutiques store in New York City from 720 Lexington 
Realty LLC, a limited liability corporation that is controlled by the Company’s two Co-Chairmen and 
another sister of the Company’s Co-Chairmen.  During Fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company paid 
$293,000, $282,000 and $281,000, respectively, for rent to 720 Lexington Realty LLC.  During Fiscal 
2005, 2004 and 2003, the terms under the lease with 720 Lexington Realty LLC were the same terms as 
were in effect since September 1994 when the Company leased the retail space from an unaffiliated third 
party prior to the purchase by 720 Lexington Realty LLC.  The lease expired on January 31, 2005 and the 
Company’s Corporate Governance/Nominating Committee approved the terms of a new lease in January 
2005.  The new lease terms provide for a five-year term with a five year renewal option, and annual rental 
payments of $460,000 (exclusive of real estate taxes and other operating expenses to be paid by the 
Company under the lease). 
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Management believes that these lease arrangements are on no less favorable terms than we could obtain 
from unaffiliated third parties. 

10.  SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA  
 (Unaudited) 
 Fiscal Year Ended January 29, 2005 
 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Year 
 (In thousands except per share amounts) 
      

Net sales $281,591 $305,223 $296,702 $395,891 $1,279,407 
Gross profit 156,067 163,303 157,470 214,880 691,720 

 Income from continuing operations 27,692 32,745 27,158 58,664 146,259 
 Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - - 3,135 3,135 
 Net income 27,692 32,745 27,158 55,529 143,124 
     
Basic net income per share     
 Income from continuing operations $.28 $.33 $.27 $.59 $1.48 
 Loss from discontinued operations - - - (.03) (0.03) 
 Net income $.28 $.33 $.27 $.56 $1.45 
      
Diluted net income per share      
 Income from continuing operations $.28 $.33 $.27 $.59 $1.47 
 Loss from discontinued operations - - - (.03) (.03) 

 Net income $.28 $.33 $0.27  $.56 $1.44 
 
 
 Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004 
 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Year 
 (In thousands except per share amounts) 
      
Net sales $239,756 $264,949 $264,146 $363,983 $1,132,834 
Gross profit 124,616 137,865 139,212 206,686 608,379 
Net income 15,565 22,181 25,253 52,039 115,038 
     
Basic net income per share: $.16 $.2 $.2 $.5 $1.17 
    
Diluted net income per share: $.16 $.2 $.2 $.5 $1.17 
 
Included in Net income during the fourth quarter of the Fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 is 
approximately $8.7 million attributable to the retirement compensation package awarded to the 
Company's founder and former Chairman of the Board. 
 

11. SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Company is primarily organized based on the geographic markets in which it operates.  Under this 
organizational structure, the Company currently has two reportable segments: North America and 
International. 
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Information about the Company’s operations by segment is as follows (in thousands): 
 Fiscal Year Ended 
 2005 2004 2003 
Net sales:    

North America $   906,071 $   820,332 $   740,838 
International 373,336 312,502 260,699 

Total net sales $1,279,407 $1,132,834 $1,001,537 

    
Operating income:    

North America $   195,689 $   165,279 $   126,370 
International 65,164 48,948 33,216 

Total operating income $   260,853 $   214,227 $   159,586 

    
Depreciation and amortization:    

North America $     29,046 $     27,222 $     26,295 
International 15,836 14,229 11,602 

Total depreciation and amortization $     44,882 $     41,451 $     37,897 

    
Interest expense:    

North America $          171 $       2,530 $       4,094 
International 22 31 341 

Total interest expense $          193 $       2,561 $       4,435 
    
Interest and other income:    

North America $     (3,851) $     (2,860) $     (1,868) 
International (2,007) (1,347) (1,001) 

Total interest and other income $     (5,858) $     (4,207) $     (2,869) 

    
Income from continuing operations before income taxes:    

North America $   170,323 $   138,387 $    97,849 
International 51,313 36,035 22,274 

Total income from continuing operations before income taxes $   221,636 $   174,422 $  120,123 

    
Income taxes:    

North America $     68,484 $     52,578 $    39,923 
International 6,893 6,806 2,221 

Total income taxes $     75,377 $     59,384 $    42,144 

    
Income from continuing operations:    

North America $   101,839 $     85,809 $    57,926 
International 44,420 29,229 20,053 

Total income from continuing operations $   146,259 $   115,038 $    77,979 

    
Goodwill:    

North America $   170,650 $   170,650 $  170,650 
International 30,417 29,152 27,225 

Total goodwill $   201,067 $   199,802 $  197,875 
    
Total assets:    

North America $   668,772 $   542,763 $  536,132 
International 297,357 263,161 201,997 

Total assets $   966,129 $   805,924 $  738,129 

    
Capital Expenditures    

North America $     46,930 $     33,331 $     29,052 
International 16,637 15,507 16,396 
Discontinued operation - - 352 

Total capital expenditures $     63,567 $     48,838 $     45,800 
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Identifiable assets are those assets that are identified with the operations of each segment.  Corporate 
assets consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, investments in affiliated companies and other assets.  
These assets are included within North America.  Operating income represents Gross profit less Selling, 
general and administrative costs.  Approximately 19%, 19% and 19% of the Company’s Net sales were in 
the United Kingdom for Fiscal Years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures 

Controls and Procedures 

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness 
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.  
Based upon that evaluation, our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer concluded that 
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual 
Report to ensure that information required to be disclosed in this Annual Report is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission’s 
rules and forms. 

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our last fiscal quarter 
identified in connection with the evaluation referred to above that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).  Under the supervision and 
with the participation of our management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial 
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting 
based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on our evaluation under the framework 
in  Internal Control - Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective as of January 29, 2005.  Our management’s assessment of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 29, 2005 has been audited by 
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included 
herein. 

Item 9B.  Other Information 

None. 
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PART III. 

Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant; Executive 
Compensation; Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters; Certain Relationships and Related Transactions; and Principal Accounting 
Fees and Services. 

The information called for by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 will be contained in our definitive Proxy 
Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission no later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year covered by this report pursuant to 
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

PART IV. 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) List of documents filed as part of this report. 

1. Financial Statements Page No. 
   
 Independent Auditors’ Reports ...................................................................  25 
 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 29, 2005 and  
 January 31, 2004...................................................................................  28 
 Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income  
 for the fiscal years ended January 29, 2005, January 31, 2004 

and February 1, 2003 ............................................................................  
29 

 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for  
 the fiscal years ended January 29, 2005, January 31, 2004 

and February 1, 2003 ............................................................................  
30 

 Consolidated statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended  
 January 29, 2005, January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003 ..................  31 
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements...............................................  32 

 
2. Financial Statement Schedules 

All schedules have been omitted because the required information is included in the consolidated 
financial statements or the notes thereto, or the omitted schedules are not applicable. 

3. Exhibits 

(2)(a) Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of March 9, 1998 among the 
Company, CSI Acquisition Corp., Lux Corporation, and David Shih, Eva 
Shih, Daniel Shih, Douglas Shih, the Shih Irrevocable Trust and Crestwood 
Partners LLC, as amended by letter amendment dated March 23, 1998 and 
addendum thereto dated March 24, 1998 (incorporated by reference to 
exhibit 2 (a) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal 
year ended January 30, 1999). 

(2)(b) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1999, by and between 
the Company, Venator Group, Inc., Venator Group Specialty, Inc., Venator 
Group Canada, Inc., Afterthoughts Boutiques, Inc. and Afterthoughts 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K dated December 1, 1999). 
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(2)(c) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 28, 2000, by and between 
Claire’s Stores, Inc. and CSI Florida Acquisition, Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the 
2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders). 

(2)(d) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2002, by and among Mr. 
Rags Acquisition, Inc., Claire’s Stores, Inc. and Lux Corporation d/b/a Mr. 
Rags (omitted schedules will be furnished supplementally to the Commission 
upon request) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2002). 

(3)(a) Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Claire’s Stores, Inc. 
(formerly known as CSI Florida Acquisition, Inc.) (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 
2000). 

(3)(b) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Claire’s Stores, Inc. (formerly known as 
CSI Florida Acquisition, Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on September 2, 2004). 

(3)(c) Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of 
Incorporation of Claire’s Stores, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
3(c) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 15, 
2004). 

(4)(a) Rights Agreement, effective May 30, 2003 between Claire’s Stores, Inc. and 
Wachovia Bank, N.A., as Rights Agent, together with the following exhibits 
thereto:  Exhibit A — Form of Articles of Amendment Designating the 
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Claire’s Stores, Inc.; Exhibit 
B — Form of Right Certificate; Exhibit C — Summary of Rights to Purchase 
Shares of Preferred Shares of Claire’s Stores, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on 
June 23, 2003). 

(10)(a) 1996 Incentive Compensation Plan of the Company (incorporated by 
reference to Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the 
2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders). 

(10)(b) 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10(e) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended February 1, 1992). 

(10)(c) Claire’s Stores, Inc. Management Deferred Compensation Plan effective as 
of July 26, 1999, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(m) to 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on May 2, 2003). 

(10)(d) Amended and Restated Office Lease dated January 1, 2004 between the 
Company and Rowland Schaefer Associates (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10(x) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 
15, 2004). 

(10)(e) Retirement Agreement dated December 2003 between Claire’s Stores, Inc. 
and Rowland Schaefer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(y) to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 15, 2004). 
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(10)(f) Loan and Security Agreement dated March 31, 2004 by and among, the 
Company, as lead borrower for BMS Distributing Corp.,  Claire's Boutiques, 
Inc., CBI Distributing Corp., and Claire's Puerto Rico Corp., Fleet Retail 
Group, Inc., as administrative agent for and the revolving credit lenders and 
other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto, and 
Fleet National Bank as issuer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 15, 2004). 

(10)(g) Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2005, between the Company 
and E. Bonnie Schaefer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2005). 

(10)(h) Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2005, between the Company 
and Marla Schaefer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2005). 

(10)(i) 2005 Incentive Compensation Plan.(1) 

(21) Subsidiaries of the Company.(1) 

(23) Consent of KPMG LLP.(1) 

(24) Power of Attorney (included on signature page). 

Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement to be filed 
as an exhibit to this report pursuant to Item 14(c) is listed in exhibit nos. 
(10)(a), (10)(b), (10)(c), (10)(e), (10)(g), (10)(h) and (10)(i). 

(31.1) Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 
15d-14(a).(1) 

(31.2) Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 
15d-14(a).(1)  

(31.3) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a).(1)  

(32.1) Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 USC. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002.(1)  

(32.2) Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 USC. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002.(1)  

(32.3) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 USC. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.(1)  

_____________________________ 
(1) Filed herewith. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant 
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

CLAIRE’S STORES, INC. 

April 12, 2005 By: /s/Marla Schaefer  
Marla Schaefer, Co-Chief Executive Officer 

April 12, 2005  By: /s/E. Bonnie Schaefer  
E. Bonnie Schaefer, Co-Chief Executive Officer 

April 12, 2005 By: /s/Ira D. Kaplan  
Ira D. Kaplan, Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

We, the undersigned, hereby constitute Ira D. Kaplan and Michael Rabinovitch, or either of them, 
our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact with full power to sign for us in our name and in the capacity 
indicated below any and all amendments and supplements to this report, and to file the same, with 
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact or their substitutes, each 
acting alone, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

April 12, 2005 /s/Marla Schaefer  
Marla Schaefer, Co-Chairman of the Board of 
Directors (principal co-executive officer and director) 

April 12, 2005 /s/E. Bonnie Schaefer  
E. Bonnie Schaefer, Co-Chairman of the Board of 
Directors (principal co-executive officer and director) 

April 12, 2005 /s/Ira D. Kaplan  
Ira D. Kaplan, Senior Vice President, Chief 
Financial Officer and Director (principal financial 
and accounting officer and director) 

April 12, 2005 /s/Martha Clark Goss  
Martha Clark Goss, Director 

April 12, 2005 /s/Todd D. Jick  
Todd D. Jick, Director 

April 12, 2005 /s/Ann Spector Lieff  
Ann Spector Lieff, Director 

April 12, 2005 /s/Bruce G. Miller  
Bruce G. Miller, Director 

April 12, 2005 /s/Steven H. Tishman  
Steven H. Tishman, Director 



52 

 

INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

 

 

EXHIBIT NO. DESCRIPTION 

10(i) 2005 Incentive Compensation Plan 
21 Subsidiaries of the Company 
23 Consent of KPMG LLP. 
31.1 Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-

14(a). 
31.2 Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-

14(a). 
31.3 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-

14(a). 
32.1 Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 USC. Section 1350, 

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
32.2 Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 USC. Section 1350, 

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
32.3 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 USC. Section 1350, as 

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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Exhibit 23 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors 
Claire’s Stores, Inc.: 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-58549) on Form S-3 
and (No. 333-42027) on Form S-8 of Claire’s Stores, Inc. of our reports dated April 12 2005, with respect 
to the consolidated balance sheets of Claire’s Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of January 29, 2005 and 
January 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, 
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the fiscal years ended January 29, 2005, January 31, 
2004 and February 1, 2003, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting as of January 29, 2005 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
as of January 29, 2005, which reports appear in the January 29, 2005 annual report on Form 10-K of 
Claire’s Stores, Inc. 
 

Our report refers to a change in method of accounting for goodwill and intangible assets in the fiscal year 
ended February 1, 2003. 

 
 
 
 
 
/S/KPMG LLP 
Tampa, Florida 
April 12 2005 
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Exhibit 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO 
RULES 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Marla Schaefer, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Claire’s Stores, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for 
the registrant and we have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal 
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation 
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of 
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal 
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

April 12, 2005      /s/ Marla Schaefer     
Marla Schaefer 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO 
RULES 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, E. Bonnie Schaefer, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Claire’s Stores, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for 
the registrant and we have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal 
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation 
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of 
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal 
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

April 12, 2005      /s/ E. Bonnie Schaefer     
E. Bonnie Schaefer 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.3 
 

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO 
RULES 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Ira D. Kaplan, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Claire’s Stores, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) 
for the registrant and we have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal 
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation 
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of 
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal 
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

April 12, 2005      /s/ Ira D. Kaplan     
Ira D. Kaplan 
Chief Financial Officer 



57 

Exhibit 32.1 

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 USC. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Claire’s Stores, Inc. (the “Company”) for 
the year ended January 29, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 
(the “Report”), I, Marla Schaefer, Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant 
to 18 USC. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 
 

/s/ Marla Schaefer     
Marla Schaefer 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
April 12, 2005 
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Exhibit 32.2 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 USC. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Claire’s Stores, Inc. (the “Company”) for 
the year ended January 29, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 
(the “Report”), I, Bonnie Schaefer, Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant 
to 18 USC. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 
/s/ E. Bonnie Schaefer     

E. Bonnie Schaefer 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
April 12, 2005 
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Exhibit 32.3 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 USC. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Claire’s Stores, Inc. (the “Company”) for 
the year ended January 29, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 
(the “Report”), I, Ira D. Kaplan, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 
USC. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 
 

/s/ Ira D. Kaplan     
Ira D. Kaplan 
Chief Financial Officer 
April 12, 2005 
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O F F I C E R S  A N D  D I R E C T O R S

Claire’s Stores, Inc.

Rowland Schaefer
Chairman Emeritus

Ira D. Kaplan
Senior Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer

Mary Fitzwilliam
Vice President of Finance-
International Operations

Bonnie Schaefer
Co-Chairman of the Board 

& Co-Chief Executive Officer

Rebecca Orand, Esq.
Senior Vice President

& Corporate General Counsel

Michael Rabinovitch
Vice President of Finance

Michael L. Winer
Corporate Treasurer

Marla Schaefer
Co-Chairman of the Board 

& Co-Chief Executive Officer

David G. Ovis
Vice President of Taxation

Marisa F. Jacobs, Esq.
Vice President of Corporate 

Communications &
Investor Relations

Claire’s North America

Nancy Rich
President & Chief Operating Officer

Joseph A. DeFalco
Chief Administrative Officer

Lisa LaFosse
Executive Vice President

of Store Operations

International

Suzanne Duplessis
Group President

Claire’s France, Switzerland, 
Austria and Germany 

Roger Esdon
President &

Chief Operating Officer
Claire’s U.K.

O F F I C E R S

Bonnie Schaefer
Co-Chairman 
of the Board 
& Co-Chief 

Executive Officer
Claire’s Stores, Inc.

Marla Schaefer
Co-Chairman 
of the Board 
& Co-Chief 

Executive Officer
Claire’s Stores, Inc.

Ira D. Kaplan
Senior Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer

Claire’s Stores, Inc.

Martha Clark Goss
Chief Financial &
Operating Officer

Amwell Holdings, LLC

Todd D. Jick
Managing Partner

The Center for 
Executive Development

Ann Spector Lieff
Founder and President

The Lieff Company

Bruce G. Miller
Managing Director

Ryan Beck & Co., Inc. 

Steven H. Tishman
Managing Director

Rothschild Inc.

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

T H E  A U D I T

C O M M I T T E E

Bruce G. Miller, Chairman
Martha Clark Goss
Steven H. Tishman

T H E  C O R P O R A T E  

G O V E R N A N C E  A N D

N O M I N A T I N G

C O M M I T T E E

Steven H. Tishman, Chairman
Todd D. Jick

Ann Spector Lieff

T H E  C O M P E N S A T I O N

C O M M I T T E E

Todd D. Jick, Chairman
Ann Spector Lieff
Bruce G. Miller
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Common Shares Listed
NYSE Trading Symbol: CLE

Financial Website
www.clairestores.com

Executive Offices
Claire’s Stores, Inc.

Claire’s Corporate Plaza 
3 S.W. 129th Avenue

Rowland Schaefer Boulevard
Pembroke Pines, FL 33027

Tel: 954-433-3900
Fax: 954-433-3999

Form 10-K
A copy of the Company’s Fiscal 2005

10-K as filed with the SEC may be obtained 
without charge by calling or writing to:

Investor Relations
Claire’s Stores, Inc.

350 Fifth Avenue, Suite 900
New York, NY 10118

Tel: 212-594-3127
Fax: 212-244-4237

Annual Meeting
9:30 am, Tuesday, June 28, 2005

The St. Regis
Two East 55th Street at Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10022

Outside Counsel
Greenberg Traurig, P.A.

401 E. Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 2000
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Independent Auditors
KPMG LLP

100 North Tampa Street, Suite 1700
Tampa, FL 33602

Registrar & Transfer Agent
Wachovia Bank, N.A.

Equity Services Group NC1153
1525 West W.T. Harris Boulevard, 3C3

Charlotte, NC 28288
Tel: 800-829-8432

S H A R E H O L D E R  I N F O R M A T I O N





Claire’s Stores, Inc.
Claire’s Corporate Plaza
3 S.W. 129th Avenue
Rowland Schaefer Boulevard
Pembroke Pines, FL 33027

NYSE Symbol: CLE

For additional information on Claire’s Stores, Inc. visit the corporate website at www.clairestores.com
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